
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE PLANNING AND PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 

SPC 
 

TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2., 
 

ON TUESDAY, 28 FEBRUARY 2017 AT 3.30 PM 
 

 

 
  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of meeting of 29th November 2016   

 
1 - 4 

2   Matters arising   
 

 

3   Dublin One Plans   
 

5 - 26 

4   Student Accommodation   
 

27 - 42 

5   Members Planning Fees   
 

43 - 44 

6   Ireland 2040: National Planning Framework Plan Issues Paper   
 

45 - 100 

7   Poolbeg SDZ   
 

101 - 
126 

8   Motions 
 

Emergency Motion submitted by Councillors C Cuffe and C Burke was adopted at 
the 6

th
 February 2017 City Council Meeting, and referred to this SPC: 

 
“In regard to late-night and weekend working on Dublin Docklands construction 
sites that the City Council notes with concern the continued and ongoing 
derogations from the terms of Planning Permissions granted under the Dublin 
Docklands Strategic Development Zone (SDZ) for late-night and weekend working 
which are reducing the amenity of nearby residents, and notes the evidence 
submitted by residents to Council staff suggesting that certain Docklands sites are 
neither complying with the terms of the Planning Permissions granted nor the 
derogations, and instructs the Chief Executive to make greater efforts to protect 
Docklands residents and allow them the peaceful enjoyment of their homes, 
particularly late at night and over weekends”. 
 
Motion 483 from Councillor Tina MacVeigh deferred from the January South 
Central Area Committee Meeting (amended 15

th
 February 2017), and referred to 

this SPC: 
 
“This Area Committee supports the occupation of Apollo House by housing activists 
and calls on Dublin City Council management to implement the following motion 
agreed at the City Council meeting on 10

th
 November 2014: 

 

 



 

That this Council open an ‘Unused Properties Register.’  The owners of private 
properties that have been unused / empty for a period of more than six months (as 
per CSO Census 2011 and other official statistics) will be required to register their 
intention for use with Council.” 

 
9   A.O.B.   

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT SPC MEETING 

 
HELD ON TUESDAY, 29 NOVEMBER 2016 

 
 

 
 
1   Minutes of meeting of 27th September 2016 

 
Order: Agreed 
 

 

2   Matters arising 
 

Apologies for non attendance at last meeting from Cllrs. Kieran Binchy and 

Janice Boylan. 

 

Item 6: Any Other Business – Motion from North West Area Committee 

re CPOs 

Planning Dept. is in the process of completing the Ballymun CPO and is 
reviewing the whole CPO process.  Manager will write to the Department 
before Christmas. 

 

 

3   Santry Greenway Cycling Route 
 

Dave O’Connor from DIT gave a short presentation on the Santry River 

Greenway, 95%+ is on public lands.  This has had widespread support from 

the North Central/North West Area Committees and it will be presented to the 

Transportation SPC also. 

Order: Resolution to support this proposal 

 

 

4   Review of the dublinbikes Expansion Strategy 
 

This Review is due in 2017 and the annual fee is going up from €20 to €25 
from January 2017.  There will be a mini expansion around Grangegorman.  
Suggestion to prepare a report and have a meeting with the Minister for 
Transport regarding funding of the scheme in the same way as all other 
public transport is funded. 
Order: Report Noted 

 

 

5   Planning Permissions – Out of Hours Work Exemptions 
 

Working hours need to be reasonable in residential areas and communication 
of changes in these should be communicated with residents.  Enforcement 
out of hours works needs to be prioritised and more pro-active, with real 
penalties for breaches in Planning Conditions. 

 

Page 1



 
 

Order: Report Noted 
 

6   A.O.B. 
 
 The 2017 SPC meeting dates circulated in the Agenda Pack are agreed. 

 
Jim Keogan’s Retirement 
The Chair on behalf of this Committee extended thanks to Jim Keogan for his 
long years of service to the City Council, and on his own behalf as the Chair it 
has been an absolute pleasure to work with him.  This was reiterated by Cllr 
Boylan on her own behalf and also that of Sinn Fein.  Cllr Freehill added her 
voice and wished him well. 
 
Joint Housing/Planning SPC 
The Chair reminded everyone that this meeting will be held on Friday, 9th 
December at 3.00pm. 
 

 Next Planning and Property Development meeting: 28th February 2017 at 
3.30pm in the Council Chamber, City Hall. 

 

 

7   Update on Vacant Land Levy 
 

Councillors requested a map of the city showing the 250 vacant sites.  The 
more information that is available the better.  The Manager emphasised that 
this is more about encouraging development than raising money from a Levy. 
Order: Report Noted 

 

 

8   Floatels 
 

Cllr. Freehill disappointed with the Port Company’s response.  It was 
suggested that Les Moore’s group, Dublin Bay Biosphere Partnership, and 
Waterways Ireland might also be consulted on this matter.  Possibly this can 
be moved forward under the tourism banner. 

 The Manager responded that we are not saying ‘no’ to initiative, but we are 
talking about a very limited space available between the East Link and Butt 
Bridges. 

 

 

9   Local Economic and Community Plan 2016-2021 
 

Order: Report Noted 

 

 

10   Motions: 
 
 Motion proposed by Cllr Mary Freehill 

"That the Planning Dept explain why Bolton St, And Kevin St DIT colleges 
were rezoned from Z15 to Z5.  These colleges were zoned Z15 in the 1999 
development plan which is the correct zoning for educational institutions.  We 
know there is a severe shortage of educational places at primary, secondary 
and tertiary levels.  Did the Council carry out any assessment of educational 
need in the city.  Did they consult with Dept of Education and did they engage 
in any strategic examination of educational needs for the city. Was there any 
consultation or meetings with the DIT before recommending change of zoning 
in the 2005 development plan review." 
 

The A/City Planner said these lands were rezoned from Z15 to Z5 by the 
elected members of the City Council in the 2005 Development Plan under the 

 

Page 2



 
 

core strategy to extend the city centre area as a Z5 area to enhance the 
vitality of the whole city centre.  Z15 is not a zoning just for educational uses 
but for a wide range of institutional uses.  Consultations are carried out with 
the Department of Education and Science regarding the future educational 
requirements under each new Development Plan.  DIT did not suggest any 
change to the Z5 zoning in the current Development Plan process either.  
The Planning Dept. try their best to anticipate the future need for schools. 
Cllr Freehill requested that a working group be set up to investigate this 
rezoning and look at how we can get the Dept of Education to do some more 
strategic planning in relation to educational needs in the city because we are 
badly off for educational services and buildings at the moment, and in the 
meantime can the Manager’s Reports at the time (2005) on the assessment 
of needs in 2005 for these two educational buildings, be circulated. 
Order: Set up working group 
 

 Motion referred from the Arts, Culture and Recreation SPC 
“This SPC is looking to get a commitment from JD Wetherspoon that the 
Circular Stained Glass Window at the former home of Church Decorators 
Earley & Co. Studios, Camden Street, Dublin 2, will be kept and restored as 
part of the new hotel development on the site. 
If the window is not to be kept that it be removed without damage and given 
to DCC, so they can preserve it.” 
 

There has been a commitment from Wetherspoons that the window will be 
kept in situ.  The permission has been granted and a condition of the 
permission is that the window be preserved.  The planning permission is 
currently in the appeal stage. 

 
 
Councillor Andrew Montague 
Chairperson 
Tuesday, 29 November 2016 
 
 
 
Attendance: 
 
Members: Members: Members: 
Kieran Binchy Janice Boylan Cathleen Carney Boud 
Patrick Costello Gaye Fagan Dermot Lacey 
John McGrane Graeme McQueen Odran Reid 
Oznur Yucel-Finn   
 
Officers   
Paul Clegg Maire Igoe Niamh Lambert 
Conor O'Hanlon John O'Hara Joy Watts 
 
Apologies:    
   
 
Non-Members:    
Mannix Flynn Mary Freehill  
 

Page 3



Page 4



Presentation to  
Dublin City Council 

Planning & Property Development 
Strategic Policy Committee 

Dublin One 
February 2017 

P
age 5



MANAGEMENT 
• Looking at international best practice 

• ATCM 
• Institute of Place Management 
• International Downtown Association 

• Dublin following international trends 
• Research & understanding for now & future 

• Matching commercial centres & well managed town centres 
• Only genuine partnership works  

“Great places are those where the public, private and voluntary sectors develop a 
vision and plan and work in unison to achieve it.” ATCM 
 

 
 
 

PLACE 

P
age 6



WHAT ABOUT 
THE FUTURE 
Imagine, it’s 2036…. 
• How will people live? 
• Where will they live? 
• How will they commute? 
• How will they shop? 
• How will they recreate? 
• What transport will they use? 
• What energy will they use? 
• What will the working life be? 
 
WILL TOWN BE RELEVANT? 

 

P
age 7



UNDERSTANDING 

• Experience driven 
• Real world & virtual world 
• Ease of access & navigation 
• Want more experiences  

• Simultaneous 
• One district 

• Environmentally aware 
• Wont burn carbon 
• Want to walk/cycle to work 
• Want to live in town & city centres 

THE MILLENNNIALS 

P
age 8



TRENDS OF 
INTERNET & MOBILE 
INTERNET RETAIL SALES 
• 35% by 2020? 
• UK: 30% retail space over supply 
MOBILE COMMERCE (MCOM) 
• World’s shops in your pocket 
• Evening between 6pm & 8pm 
• Sunday 5pm and 8pm 
• Mobiles accessing our websites 
SHOPPING CENTRES 
• Driven by convenience 
• Family market 
• Challenges from on-line shopping 

P
age 9



RETAIL SALES 
UK 

P
age 10



DIRECT IMPACT OF 
M-COMMERCE 

70 

80 

90 

100 

110 

120 

130 

140 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

M
ar

ch
 

Ju
ne

 

Se
pt

em
be

r 

De
ce

m
be

r 

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

RETAIL SALES 2006 - 2020 

Dept Store Textiles, Clothing & Footware 

P
age 11



OF VISITS 
Frequency of Visits 
 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

City North Side City South Side Dundrum Blanchardstown Liffey Valley 

Frequency of Shopping Visits 

Weekly  Monthly 

FREQUENCY 

P
age 12



IN VISITATION 

-40 

-30 

-20 

-10 

0 

10 

20 

30 

City North Side City South Side Dundrum Blanchardstown Liffey Valley 

Change In Visitation Over 5 Years 

More Often Less Often 

CHANGE 

P
age 13



IN VISITATION 

-20 

-15 

-10 

-5 

0 

5 

City North Side City South Side Dundrum Blanchardstown Liffey Valley 

NET CHANGE 

P
age 14



FOR VISITING THE CITY 
             

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

Shopping Restaurants Pubs  Theatres 

Reasons to visit the city 

REASONS 

P
age 15



UNDERSTANDING 
THE PSYCHOLOGY 

54% 54% 

29% 
26% 

24% 

14% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

Variety of 
shops 

Value A good vibe Availability 
of brands 

Nice places 
to meet 

Nice bars 

What determines where people shop? 

82% 

10% 8% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

Yes No opinion No 

Do you shop in Dublin because of good 
amenities, restaurants & coffee shops?  

P
age 16



THE SHOPPING 
MOTIVATION 

• The building of experience  

• Evening time use 
• 65% of people would shop if shops stayed open later 

• 73% of that 65% want to socialise as part of the same trip 

• District identities 
• Each district must have its own identity & range of offer 

P
age 17



FOOTFALL 
COMPARISON 

0 

20,000 

40,000 

60,000 

80,000 

100,000 

120,000 

140,000 

160,000 

H10 H11 H12 H13 H14 H15 H16 H17 H18 H19 H20 H21 H22 H23 

Purple Flag Area Non-Purple Flag Area 

P
age 18



NORTHSIDE TRADE 
• Retail is very strong 
Attractions  
 
 
 
 
• People want a better quality evening offer 
• Want more independent & unique retail stores 
• Want better quality side streets 
 
 

North side South side 

Shops 66 54 

Cafes, restaurants & bars 26 38 

GROWING 

P
age 19



PATTERNS OF 
NORTH & SOUTH SIDE MOVEMENT 

P
age 20



NORTH SIDE MOMENTUM 
•Plans for use of Wolfe Tone Square & Lower Mary Street 

•Activities & entertainment 
•Café culture 

•Tram has made a very significant difference 
• Improving perceptions of safety 

• Purple Flag 
• Investment in the area 

• Potentially 5,000 new jobs 
•Arts, culture & entertainment 

 
 

MAINTAINING 

P
age 21



FOR A BRIGHTER FUTURE 
• North side has seen significant investments 
• Brand Proposition  

• Dublin One: Heart of the City 
• 82% of those surveyed liked it 
• 8% did not 

 
 

POINTS 

P
age 22



City Architects & AIA 
•American Institute of Architects pick a city each year 
•8 folks will be here 10th to 13th March  
•Local steering group 
•Series of workshops; stakeholder meetings 
•We would like your input  
•And that of the people you represent 

 
 

 

P
age 23



Challenges 
•Meeting of commercial & residential sectors 

• 4,000 residents 
•Making the most of employment opportunities 

• North Inner City 
•Balance of access, permeability & pedestrian 

environment 
•Mix of retail, hospitality, residential & leisure uses 

 
 

 

P
age 24



INTERNATIONAL 
EXPERIENCES 

• Increasing residential use in 75% of 
American cities 

• Gentrification – Middle classes living in city 
centre 

• Death of the suburban shopping mall 
• 15-50% to close over next 10 years 
• 2007 first year since 1950 no major mall 

opened 
• Reflecting residential trends  

“Natural life cycle of any business” 
“The demographics have dried up” 

•Link to inward investment 
• Quality of life expectations 

 

P
age 25





City Planner 
Dublin City Council 

Purpose-Built Student Accommodation in Dublin: Context, Patterns of 
Development and Evolving Trends 

  

P
age 27



Background and Introduction 
 Traditional Model: Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) on campus (Rubrics) and Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs) off campus 

 
 Higher Education Authority estimate 80,000 students are currently in Dublin (c.15% of Population) 

 
 Projection growth in full time third level education  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Estimated shortfall of between 16,000 and 18,000 beds 

 
 In Dublin 38% of population now educated to third level. 210,000 students (full + part time) in third level in Ireland, up 44,000 in 
10 years 
 
 75% plus PBSAs relate to brownfield/vacant sites 

P
age 28



Existing Large Scale PBSA as of December 2016 
 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

Address No. of Bedspaces 
NCI Mayor Street, D1  286 bedspaces  
Buckley Hall, Railway Street/Buckingham Street Lower, 
D1 

103 bedspaces 

Trinity College Dublin On-Campus, D2 600+ bedspaces 
JBs Student Residence, Cumberland Road, D2 140 bedspaces 
JBs Student Residence, Lad Lane, D2 40 apartments 160-220 bedspaces 
Trinity Hall, Dartry, D6 1000 bedspaces 
BlackArch Student Accommodation 9-13 Blackhall Place, 
D7 

200+ bedspaces 

Broadstone Hall 244 Phibsboro Road, Constitution Hill, 
D7 

c.103 bedspaces 

JBs Student Campus at the “Deaf Village”, Navan Road, 
D7 

115 bedspaces 

Griffith College, D8 650 bedspaces 
Shanowen Hall, Shanowen Road, D9  c.245 bedspaces 
Shanowen Square, Shanowen Road, D9  c.298 bedspaces 
Schoolhouse Court, Schoolhouse Lane, D9 66 bedspaces 
Marino Institute, Griffith Avenue, D9 322 bedspaces 
Hampstead Apartments, DCU Campus, D9 299 bedspaces 

College Park Apartments, DCU Campus, D9 433 bedspaces 
Larkfield Apartments, DCU Campus, D9 254 bedspaces 
Purcell House, All Hallows DCU, D9 61 bedspaces 
O’Donnell House, All Hallows DCU, D9 45 bedspaces 
Saint Patrick’s DCU, D9 238 bedspaces 
Hazelwood Student Apartments Northwood, D11 4 bedroom apartments Unknown 

No. for students 
Gateway Student Village, Ballymun, D11  326 bedspaces 
UCD On-Campus 3,164 
Total Estimated No. of Current Student Bedspaces 
in large schemes 

c.9,108-9,168 

P
age 29



Existing PBSA in Dublin City 

P
age 30



Dublin City Council Planning Policy 
City Development Plan (Policy QH31) ; ‘To support the provision of high-quality, professionally managed and 
purpose-built third-level student accommodation on campuses or in appropriate locations close to the main 
campus, in the inner city or adjacent to high-quality public transport corridors and cycle routes, in a manner 
which respects the residential amenity and character of the surrounding area, in order to support the knowledge 
economy. Proposals for student accommodation shall comply with the ‘Guidelines for Student Accommodation’ 
contained in the development standards’ 
 
Policy CEE19 ;‘i) To promote Dublin as an International Education Centre/Student City, as set out in national 
policy, and to support and encourage provision of necessary infrastructure such as colleges (including English 
Language Colleges) and high-quality, custom-built and professionally-managed student housing.  
(ii) To recognise that there is a need for significant extra high-quality, professionally managed student 
accommodation developments in the city; and to facilitate the high-quality provision of such facilities.’ 
 
Guidelines for student accommodation are contained in section 16.10.7 of the development plan.  
 
 Summary 
Student accommodation to form “house” units rather than dormitories so as to be similar to the layout of standard 
housing.  
Maximum of 40% of units can be one bedroom/studio units.  
Permission would be required to change to other residential housing.  
All applications must show how the scheme will be professionally managed and accommodating accredited third 
level students only.  
The scheme should also show how it will support integration into the community i.e. design relationship to street, 
not affecting provision of standard residential housing, and not creating over-concentration of such use within 
0.25km.  

P
age 31



Standard Planning Condition 
Condition 1  
 
The development shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the plans and particulars lodged with the 
application. This includes: 
 
 Student Management Plan 
 Details of on-site management team 
 On-site managing, Security & access control 
 Complaints procedure from residents/other students).  
 
Where such conditions require details to be agreed with the planning authority, the developer shall agree such details 
in writing with the planning authority prior to commencement of development and the development shall be carried out 
and completed in accordance with agreed particulars. 
 
Reason: In the interest of clarity. 

 
Condition 2  
 
The development hereby permitted shall only be occupied as student accommodation, and for no other purpose, 
without a prior grant of planning permission for change of use. The ancillary facilities including the gym, cinema and 
café/restaurant at ground floor level shall be retained as an integral part of the student accommodation and shall not 
be sold, let or otherwise transferred or conveyed, save as part of the entire development. (In the interest of clarity, this 
condition does not prohibit the said ancillary facilities being made available to members of the public). 
 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and to limit the scope of the proposed development to that for 
which the application was made. 

P
age 32



Professional Companies in the PBSA Market 
 
 

The Student Housing Company - Manages student accommodation in the UK and Europe.  
 
Hines Property Ireland - Development and management firm with interests in 192 cities in 20 
countries 
 
Ziggurat Student Living -  It operates two models – build and manage at their own sites and 
manage sites for other investors.  
 
Mortar Developments - Operates mainly in Nottingham and Derby with two sites in London. The 
company appear to specialise in brown field sites. 
  
GSA – Global Student Accommodation - The company now manages Broadstone Hall, is 
currently on site with construction at Mill Street (New Mill) and Gardiner Street. 

P
age 33



Approved PBSA Post 2008 
 
 
 
 
 

Ref No. Site Status No. of Bedspaces 

3803/09  The Donnelly Centre, D8 Approved  182  

3246/11  Saint Michael’s House, 
D4 

Approved  23  

3191/13  Binary Hub, D8 Built 471  

2990/14  Church Street, D7  Approved  217  

3475/14 (2440/16) Mill Street, D8 Approved          u/cst 406  

3611/14  IDA site, Summerhill D1  Approved          u/cst 
 

491  

2356/15  14/15 Wexford Street, D2 Approved          u/cst 
 

48  

2453/15  Thomas Street, D8 Approved  263  

2456/15  Parnell Square, D1 Approved          u/cst 
 

13  

2838/15  Dorset Point, D1 Approved          u/cst 447  

3000/15  Grangegorman Road, 
D7 

Approved  126  

3366/15  123-128 Summerhill, D1 Approved         u/cst 374  

3389/15  Blackberry Fair, D6 Approved  106  

3453/15  (2382/16) 58-64 Dominick Street 
D7  

Approved  130  

3971/15  Aungier Street, D2 Approved  271  

DSDZ3689/15  Point Hub, D1  Approved  935  

2858/16 Grangegorman Lowe, 
D7 

Approved  571  

3316/16  Brickfield Lane, D8 Approved  308  

3987/16 Oisin House, D2 Approved  250  

4035/16 Prussia Street D7 Approved 203 

Approved Bedspaces Not Under Construction 3,615 
Total Approved Under Construction 1,749 
Total Approved Built 471 
Total No. of Bedspaces Approved post 2008 5,835 

P
age 34



Existing and Approved PBSA South Central 
Area 

P
age 35



Existing and Approved PBSA Central Area 

P
age 36



Binary Hub D8  

P
age 37



Broadstone Hall D7  

P
age 38



PBSA and Local Electoral Divisions  
 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

Location LEA LED PBSA 
pop. 

Census 
2016 Pop. 

Total 
Increased 
Pop. 

PBSA % 
of Total 

Dublin 7 North Inner City + 
Cabra A-C 

11 LEDs 4,061 37,633 41,694 9.7% 

Point Hub North Inner City North Dock 
B 

935 7,768 8,703 11% 

Summerhill North Inner City Mountjoy A 
& B 

865 9,267 10,152 8.5% 

Dorset Point North Inner City Inns Quay B 447 3,638 4,085 11% 

Dorset Point North Inner City Inns Quay B 
+ Rotunda A 
& B 

447 11,701 12,148 3.7% 

Total  North Inner City + 
Cabra East A-C 

22 LEDs 7,656 86,292 93,948 8.15% 

Total North Inner City 19 LEDs 7,656 72,959 80,615 9.49% 

Location LEA LED PBSA 
pop. 

Census 
2016 Pop. 

Total 
Increased 
Pop. 

PBSA % 
of Total 

Dublin 8 Crumlin / Kimmage 16 LEDs 3,168 44,589 47,757 6.6% 

P
age 39



Pros  
 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 There are benefits to PBSA in the city as underutilised sites are unlocked and developed to provide quality 
Purpose-built Student Accommodation.   

 
 PBSA can also release private rental units for non-student use. ‘Destudentification’ – the movement of 
students away from certain areas from the private rented sector into purpose built accommodation. 

 
 Desirable daytime activity/animation/ ”liveliness” into areas and adding to the vitality of urban areas 

 
 Promote the economy of its surrounding community through impacts of both direct and indirect spending and 
create new local businesses including retail services. 

 
 Reduced parking needs. 

Cons  
 Negative impacts often associated with student populations can be by way of noise generation and late night 
activity. 

 
 The impact of the transient nature of students and term time limits leading to less sense of community and 
less activity.  

 
 High cost of PBSA  for students could discourage students from leaving Houses in Multiple Occupancy 
(HMO). 

 
 Concern about displacement of other housing typologies. 

P
age 40



Contextual 1km Radius    

P
age 41



Thank You 

P
age 42



 
An Roinn Pleanála agus Forbartha Maoine 

Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha 

Cliath 8 

Planning and Property Development Department 

Block 4, Floor 3, Civic Offices, Wood Quay, 
D8 

 
 

Planning and Property Development 
Strategic Policy Committee 

February 2017 
 
 

 
Payment of fee by Elected Members re submission/observation to planning 
application 
 
The consideration and deliberation of planning applications is an executive function. 
The Elected Members have an interest in how the development plan is applied and in 
their representative capacity may also be interested in individual planning 
applications. The weekly planning list is circulated to Councillors. Queries/questions 
from Councillors are responded to as they arise. Presentations of complex planning 
applications are periodically made to Area committees or the Planning Information 
Unit may present to a meeting of Councillors and residents. In both instances it must 
be within the 5 week submission period as the purpose is to assist Councillors to 
understand complex applications so that they can advise constituents who may wish 
to make submissions or they may wish to make submission themselves. 
 
Pursuant to Section 29 (1) (a) of the Planning & Development Regulations  
‘Any person or body, on payment of the prescribed fee, may make a submission or 
observation in writing to a planning authority in relation to a planning application 
within the period of 5 weeks beginning on the date of receipt by the authority of the 
application’. 
 
The Development Management Guidelines published by the Department in 2007 
provide that there is no fee for Elected Members ‘when supporting or objecting to the 
application in general terms  without elaborating on the grounds of the application or 
on a submission by an observer’.  
 
There is however a fee for a formal submission which ‘elaborates on the grounds of 
an application or a submission or raises a substantive new issue, the submission 
cannot be considered by the planning authority unless it is accompanied by the 
appropriate fee’. 
 
The  Independent Planning Review in its July 2015 report recommended that Dublin 
City Council be advised that ‘in the presentation of any undecided planning 
applications, officials should advise that any observations or recommendations 
cannot be taken into account in the determination of the planning application unless 
formally submitted in accordance with the provisions of the Planning and 
Development Regulations’. 
 

Page 43



On the 22nd March 2016 the Area Managers were advised to record Members wishes 
in a manner that would not compromise the fact that decisions are an executive 
function. 
 
In July 2016 the Planning SPC wrote to Minister Coveney to enquire about the 
previous Minister’s intention to abolish the planning fee for Councillors and TDs. The 
response received in November 2016 indicated that the Minister is considering the 
suggestions made in the context of the review of legislation currently underway. 
 
Dublin City Council on the 8th September 2016, in response to the Independent 
Planning Review of The Performance of Planning Functions, confirmed to the 
Department that “in the presentation of any undecided planning applications to 
elected members or members of the public, attendees are advised that any 
observations / recommendations cannot be taken into account in the determination of 
the planning application unless formally submitted in line with the Planning & 
Development Regulations”. 
 
A small number of Councillors were periodically making observations without the fee 
and outside the statutory time period. On 21st October staff in Planning Registry were 
advised to ensure that only submissions made within the statutory time period and 
with the appropriate fee are accepted.  
 
At the Corporate Policy Group meeting with the Chief Executive it was indicated that 
it would be possible to reinstate the practice of accepting submission/observations on 
planning applications from Elected Members without the payment of the statutory fee, 
pending discussion at the February SPC. Unfortunately having reviewed the situation 
it was clear that in order to protect the integrity of the planning process this was not 
possible so a memo to this effect was sent to all Elected Members.  
 
To summarise the situation all submissions/observations on planning 
applications by Elected Members must be made during the statutory 5 week 
period and be accompanied by the appropriate fee unless the 
submission/observation simply states that the Elected Member is in favour of 
or not in favour of the proposed application/submission. If any further 
elaboration is provided the appropriate fee must accompany the submission.  
 
 
 
 
 
Declan Wallace 
A/Assistant Chief Executive  

 
 

Page 44



 
An Roinn Pleanála agus Forbartha Maoine 

Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8 
Planning and Property Development Department 

Block 4, Floor 3, Civic Offices, Wood Quay, D8 
 
 

Planning and Property Development 
Strategic Policy Committee 

February 2017 
 
 

Ireland 2040 : National Planning Framework 2040 

 
 
On 2nd February 2017 the Government launched an “Issues and Choices” public consultation 
paper in relation to the proposed new National Planning Framework 2040, which will be a 
20+ year vision and implementation strategy to replace the National Spatial Strategy 2002. 
 
The Issues and Choices document invites submissions which will inform the content of the 
draft National Planning Framework 2040. 
 
The Paper is a 52 page document (copy attached) containing 6 main areas for 
consideration. 
 
A. Ireland’s National Planning Challenges 

o Circa 1 million extra population, quarter of which will be over 65. 
o 500,000 extra workforce – many in high skilled jobs close to cities. 
o 500,000 extra dwelling units needed by 2040, i.e., 25,000-30,000 approximately per 

annum. 
 
B. Ireland’s Health and Wellbeing, including how spatial development can encourage 

healthier lifestyles (walking, cycling) and reduce carbon footprint. 
 
C. A Place-Making Strategy, including a specific section on the role of Dublin as our 

capital, and other cities and towns.  The hierarchy of cities in Ireland is contrasted with 
that in other small advanced countries.  The key considerations in this section are: 

 
Under the Business As Usual Scenario, the current lop-sided pattern of development of 
the State will continue, which in the longer term will be neither beneficial to Dublin nor 
the Country as a whole. 
 
Any alternatives will need to consider the following: 
 
o Protecting the importance of Dublin as a national driver of growth by prioritising 

measures to address barriers to its international competitiveness; 
o Enabling a city centre outwards process of renewal and regeneration and continued 

investment in transport and local infrastructure and housing policies to deliver more 
compact cities; 

Page 45



o The potential for a nationally significant step-change in the promotion of one or more 
of the four regional cities through co-ordinated planning and investment that would be 
long term and transformational. 

 
D. Ireland’s Unique Environment – Sustainability, including key questions in the area of: 

 
o Extra population and reducing carbon emissions. 
o Climate change and energy reduction. 
o Ireland’s green image in food production and tourism. 

 
E. Infrastructure 

The Issues Paper states that the NPF will provide the spatial background against which 
investment projects can be prioritised, so that long-term projects can be aligned and 
sequenced.  The key issues include: 
 
o Alignment of strategic infrastructure (transport, water, energy, etc.) with settlement 

strategy. 
o How to make best use of existing infrastructure. 
o Ensuring new development is supported by timely provision of social infrastructure. 

 
F. Implementing the NPF 

There is recognition in the Issues Paper that the previous NSS was a “mixed bag” in 
terms of implementation.  It is intended the new NPF will have: 
 
o An NPF Management Team. 
o Statutory backing. 
o Capital investment programmes (bids for funding). 
o Independent annual monitoring reports. 

 
The Issues Paper also sets out what will happen if there is no NPF.  ‘Business as usual’ will 
mean: Dublin will dominate more and potentially overheat; sprawl into Leinster will continue; 
Cork, Limerick, Galway and Waterford will grow only slowly; and housing-employment will 
spread further apart leading to rising costs and impacts in terms of commuting, services, 
health and the decline of small towns. 
 
The closing date for submissions is 12 noon on 16th March 2017. 
 
 
 
John O’Hara 
A/City Planner 

Page 46



NATIONAL PLANNING FRAMEWORK

 

February 2017

Ireland 2040 
Our Plan
Issues and Choices

Page 47



Page 48



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 1

Contents

Ireland 2040
Our Plan 
Issues and Choices 

Minister’s Foreword 2

1.0 Introduction 4

2.0 Ireland’s National Planning Challenges 7

2.1   Future Change and Growth 7

2.2   Recent Development Pattern 9

2.3   Business as Usual 12

2.4   Learning from our Experience 13

3.0 People’s Health and Well-Being 16

3.1   What does the NPF mean for Health and Well-Being? 16

3.2   Trends Influencing our Health and Wellbeing 17

3.3  Linking Health and Well-Being to Place 20

4.0 A Place-Making Strategy 23

4.1   Our Capital, Cities and Towns 23

4.2   Opportunities for our Regions 26

4.3   The Potential of Rural Ireland 30

4.4   Ireland in an All-Island Context 34

4.5   Integrated Land and Marine Development 38

5.0 Ireland’s Unique Environment – Sustainability 42

5.1   Development and Land Use Change 42

5.2   Climate Action 43

5.3   ReEnergising Ireland 44

5.4   Heritage and Landscape 45

5.5   Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity 45

6.0 Equipping Ireland for Future Development - Infrastructure 47

6.1   Setting the Bar 47

6.2    Scale and Impact 48

7.0 Enabling the Vision – Implementing the National Planning Framework 50

7.1   Commitment and Structures 50

7.2   Key Policy Considerations 51

Page 49



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 2

Minister’s Foreword

 What will Ireland be like in 20 years’ time?  It’s a fundamental question that no one can answer 
for sure but, based on what we do know now, we can make informed and strategic choices now 
about what kind of challenges and opportunities we will face in the future.  For example, we  
know that there will be more of us - as many as a million additional people in Ireland and we will 
be on average older, with the number of people over 65 double current levels.  But where will 
they live?  Where should they live? How will they access the services they need? How will they 
move around? 

 We can expect this and many other changes in the coming years, so it is essential to set out 
an overall long-term plan for the country.  It’s also clear that in addition to a greater choice of 
housing types and employment opportunities, our growing population will need more school 
and third-level places and better infrastructure of all kinds, including transport, energy, 
communications, healthcare and recreational facilities. 

 If we want our country to be the best it can be, we must ensure that development and 
services are located where all of our people can best be served.  In other words, that the right 
development can take place in the right places, at the right time.  

 The fact is that we have not always grasped the opportunity that good forward planning can give. 
This has stopped us from reaching our full potential in economic, social, cultural and spatial 
terms. I firmly believe that if we continue to do things as we have over the past twenty years, 
we are almost certain to get more of the same over the next twenty, and compound many of 
the quality of life difficulties we currently face.  A continuation of ‘business as usual’ will not 
deliver the national vision and goals we all share, such as improved living standards, a desire 
for people to live in safe, vibrant communities and to experience life-long health and well-being 
.  Nor will we develop the capacity to meet our environmental obligations or be able to respond to 
climate change.  Recognising that the same level or even type of growth can’t occur everywhere, 
some degree of prioritisation and some hard choices will be necessary. So too will be the need 
to replace the concept of balanced regional development with the idea of effective regional 
development - playing to strengths rather than assuming that a single model suits all areas. 

 We have a unique and exciting opportunity now to plan for a better future for all - to start to 
move away from it will require some big decisions to be made that can be carried forward and 
implemented over a long period of time.  This means that we first need to plan to do things 
differently.  

 As a nation, we have the opportunity to look ahead and shape long-term planning over the next 
twenty years or more, in the form of the Ireland 2040 Plan.  The issues set out in this initial 
consultation paper prompt us to honestly ask ourselves some key questions about what should 
Ireland be like in 20 years’ time.  If we can envisage the type of outcomes that we would wish to 
see, then we can start to identify the steps that we might take to get there.  

 

Page 50



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 3

 As well as considering what future we want for our people and communities, this process will 
have implications for the types of infrastructure that we may need in the future, how we relate 
to our environment and how we adapt to the pressures and costs of climate change.  We must 
also consider interactions with Northern Ireland and our wider marine territory.  It will be critical 
to identify what needs to be done to ensure that we can put a coherent plan into practice and to 
achieve success.

 Whilst we can predict that much will change, the values we share as a society will largely 
remain intact.  In an increasingly globalised but uncertain world, our sense of belonging to both 
community and place, our unique artistic and cultural inheritance and the value we place on 
social justice, a European model of inclusion and ‘fair play’ are key ‘place-making’ assets that 
set us apart.  Our distinctive values and strengths - distinctly Irish, proudly European, outward 
looking, welcoming, dynamic, progressive, flexible, problem solvers, opportunity makers, 
community builders, cultural creators - will both inform and require a uniquely Irish approach to 
planning for our country’s and our communities’ future.

 I encourage all of you to consider what kind of Ireland you want see in 2040 and give your views 
on the critical issues outlined in this paper and have your say on how we can best plan for 
Ireland’s development out to 2040 and beyond.

 Simon Coveney T.D.

 Minister for Housing, Planning, Community and Local Government

Page 51



Page 4

 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

1.1 Purpose 

1.1.1 The purpose of this paper is to set out the main issues and possible choices for the development 
of Ireland as a place, beyond 100 years of statehood over the next twenty years or more, to 2040. 
This is the first major step towards the preparation of a national spatial plan for the Country, 
taking into account a range of social, economic and environmental factors, with the term ‘spatial’, 
meaning ‘space’ or ‘place’. 

1.1.1 It is intended that the Ireland 2040 Plan will be a high-level document that will provide the 
framework for future development and investment in Ireland. It will be the overall Plan from 
which other, more detailed plans will take their lead, hence the title, National Planning 
‘Framework’, including city and county development plans and regional strategies. The National 
Planning Framework will also have statutory backing.

1.1.2 The Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local Government is leading the 
preparation of the National Planning Framework, or ‘NPF’, on behalf of Government, with input 
from other Departments and Agencies. It will be particularly relevant where there is a long term 
and place-based aspect to public policy and investment, including areas such as housing, jobs, 
transport, education, health, environment, energy and communications.

1.1.3 One of the principal purposes of preparing the NPF will be to co-ordinate all of these 
specific departmental or ‘sectoral’ areas into an overall strategy. This will allow shared 
national development goals, including improved living standards, quality of life, prosperity, 
competitiveness and environmental sustainability, to be more broadly considered. This will also 
provide greater clarity for private sector investment.

1.1.4 The National Planning Framework will also be a tool to assist the achievement of more effective 
regional development. In order to ensure that positive outcomes arising from national growth can 
be shared by people throughout Ireland, the potential of all areas will need to be realised, relative 
to their capacity for sustainable development.

1.1.5 By looking ahead in a co-ordinated and strategic manner, the NPF will seek to identify how best 
to work towards all of these shared goals for the benefit of the Country as a whole. To ensure 
implementation, the Framework will need to credibly connect these goals to places. 

1 Introduction

Page 52



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 5

1.1.6 It is not possible to describe with absolute certainty the sort of place Ireland will be in 2040, but 
the long term nature of strategic planning is such that choices and decisions made now, will 
directly influence future outcomes. Accordingly, it is suggested that the most important question 
that needs to be asked at the outset of the National Planning Framework process is what the 
vision should be:-

 What sort of place should Ireland be in 2040  
and what do we need to do to achieve this?

1.2 Consultation Process 

1.2.1 This issues and choices paper is a consultation document that has been prepared in advance of 
drafting a new National Planning Framework. Consultation a critical step in the preparation and 
drafting of the NPF and this initial consultation seeks to prompt national debate and discussion 
in relation to the future spatial development of Ireland. 

1.2.2 This issues and choices paper has been designed to provide members of the public and all 
interested parties an overview of some of the main national planning issues that affect Ireland 
today. It also provides the opportunity to submit comments and suggestions on the issues raised 
and other topics that are considered relevant to the National Planning Framework. It is requested 
that submissions would be made in writing and would relate to matters that:-

 are of national significance; 
 are strategic in nature; and 
 have a ‘spatial’ or place-based focus.

1.3 Submissions 

1.3.1 Written submissions at this first stage of the National Planning Framework process can be made 
between 9am on Thursday 2nd February 2017 and 12 noon on Thursday 16th March 2017. 

1.3.2 You can make a submission by:

1.  Going on-line:- just log on to our website www.ireland2040.ie and follow the instructions 
provided;

 Or,

2.  Email to the following email address only npf@housing.gov.ie;

 Or,

3.  Writing to the following address:

 NPF Submissions,  
Forward Planning Section,  
Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local Government,  
Custom House,  
Dublin D01 W6X0.

1.3.3 The deadline for receipt of all submissions is 12 noon on Thursday 16th March 2017. We cannot 
accept submissions for this pre-draft stage beyond that deadline. Please make your submission 
by one medium only, either electronic or hard copy. 

 All submissions must include the following:

 Your name and details of any organisation, community group or company you represent.
 An address for correspondence.

 Your submission on relevant planning issues for the National Planning Framework. 

Page 53

http://www.ireland2040.ie
mailto:npf@housing.gov.ie


 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 6

1.3.4 There will be further opportunities for the public and all interested parties to make a submission 
on the strategic planning and policy direction of the NPF, at a later stage in the process. 

 Please note submissions may be published on our website and subject to Freedom of 
Information. Receipt of submissions will be acknowledged but it will not be possible to issue 
individual responses.

Figure 1: 

Key phases and milestones for preparing the National Planning Framework

Preparation of Issues 
and Choices paper

1st Public 
Consultation Issues 
and Choices Paper

Preparation of Draft 
National Planning 
Framework (NPF)

Draft National NPF for 
Public Display

2nd Public 
Consultation Draft 
Paper

Finalisation of 
NPF by Oireachtas, 
Publication of NPF & 
SEA/AA/SFRA

Environmental 
Scoping Reports

Preparation of 
Environmental 
Assessments

Environmental 
Reports

Screen Changes

Final Environmental 
Reports

Page 54



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 7

2.1 Future Change and Growth

2.1.1 Ireland’s society and economy have been transformed in recent decades. Over the course of 
two generations, we have become a more educated, outward looking, dynamic, technologically 
focused and diverse Country. This adaptability and capacity for change has enabled Ireland 
to become relatively prosperous and successful, with the stability and resilience to overcome 
serious crises that have challenged us as a Nation.

2.1.2 Ireland is now seen as an advanced, developed Country, an established member of the European 
Union, uniquely positioned with strong economic, social and cultural links to the UK, Europe 
and the US. The context within which we operate continues to change and it is important that 
Ireland continues to position itself for growth and success in an increasingly competitive global 
environment.

2.1.3 The principal purpose of economic success is to ensure sustained improvement in living 
standards and quality of life for all of our citizens. This also provides the best possible platform 
from which to pursue key social and environmental goals, such as tackling disadvantage and 
responding to climate change.

2.1.4 Continued progress will require us to identify new ways to enable improved performance to 
achieve outcomes that make a difference at a national scale. Preparing and implementing a 
National Planning Framework that can influence the spatial pattern of development throughout 
the Country, presents such an opportunity.

2.1.5 The scale of Ireland’s growth since the early 1990’s has been unprecedented, notwithstanding 
the impact of economic recession. Our population has increased by more than 1.1 million people, 
to 4.75 million. Our housing stock has expanded by more than 750,000, to just over two million 
homes. Numbers in employment have also grown by more than 660,000, to more than two million 
people in 2017.

Ireland’s National 
Planning Challenges2

Page 55



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 8

Page 56



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 9

2.1.6 It is hugely significant that growth and change is set to continue. There will be more people, 
who will be more diverse and older and will need more homes and more jobs, supported by new 
infrastructure, services and facilities. In Ireland, over the next twenty years:-

 The population is expected to increase by more than three-quarters of a million people to 
around 5.6 million, but could be higher;

 The number of people over the age of 65 will double to be well over one million;

 The average number of people per occupied household, i.e. average household size, is likely 
to reduce to around 2 people per dwelling (it is currently around 2.7);

 There will be a need for an absolute minimum of half a million new homes, which is at least 
25,000 additional homes, every year;

 There will be more people at work than ever before, exceeding the previous (Q1 2008) 
maximum of almost 2.2 million and with continued growth, likely to be more than 2.5 million 
in total;

 Demand for places in third level education will peak in the mid-late 2020s;

 Migration will shape how the population grows and changes;

 There will be an increased emphasis on health and well-being, including more active 
lifestyles and a focus on mental health, especially as people live longer;

 There will be a need to align development strategies with social strategies, including in 
relation to the integration of migrant communities and supporting access and opportunity 
for people with disabilities;

 Environmental requirements relating to improved air and water quality, soils, biodiversity 
and habitat protection will need to be met;

 There will be a need to adapt to climate change and meet targets for emissions reduction, 
energy efficiency and renewables, with a view to a low carbon and climate resilient 
sustainable Ireland by 2050.

2.1.7 In order to address projected future growth and change in Ireland, the National Planning 
Framework will need to enable public and private policy and investment decisions with a place-
based dimension, to be guided and prioritised in a manner that can benefit the Country as a 
whole.

2.2 Recent Development Pattern

2.2.1 Growth and change will occur irrespective of whether there is a National Planning Framework in 
place or not and will further impact the spatial pattern of development in Ireland. In the absence 
of an agreed and effective National Planning Framework, it is likely that current trends will 
continue. The defining pattern of spatial development in Ireland in recent decades has been that:-

 Settlement, i.e. where people live, has generally become more spread out, and employment, 
i.e. where people work, has generally become more concentrated into a smaller number of 
areas;

 Whilst population growth has been focused on larger urban centres, it has mainly occurred 
in the surrounding ‘hinterlands’. This means at the edge of the settlement or in the 
surrounding towns and rural areas;

 Employment growth has been most prominent in larger centres, but has mainly occurred at 
the settlement edge or closer to central areas;

 Decline has generally occurred in less accessible rural areas; smaller towns outside the 
hinterlands of the cities or larger towns; and in some of the more established, inner urban 
parts of cities and large towns;

Page 57



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 10

 There has been an increasing concentration of population and economic activity in the East 
of the Country, with much of the growth associated with Dublin being accommodated in ten 
other counties, extending from Cavan to Wexford.

 A continuation of this spatial pattern is described as the ‘business as usual’ scenario.

2.2.2 The largest increases in population over the past twenty years have been in Fingal (North County 
Dublin), Cork outside the Cork City Council area), Kildare and Meath. Over the same period, 
Meath, Fingal and Kildare, together with Laois, have also had the highest rates of population 
growth in percentage terms.

2.2.3 Population growth in the five aforementioned Counties together with Galway County (i.e. 
excluding the Galway City Council area) accounted for just over half a million people, or 45% of 
the national total, over the past twenty years. This means that almost half of Ireland’s additional 
people since 1996 have been accommodated in just six local authority areas, which together 
adjoin, but don’t include the three Cities of Dublin, Cork and Galway.

Page 58



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 11

Page 59



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 12

2.2.4 Taken together with six other counties that comprise the wider Dublin commuter belt, this means 
that over the past twenty years, more than 60% of all national population growth occurred in 
areas accessible to the Dublin, Cork and Galway hinterlands, but not in the Cities themselves. 
The trend has been towards an overall pattern of suburbanisation, that may be described as 
‘sprawl’.

2.2.5 In the same way as the population of settlements surrounding the larger urban areas has grown, 
so too has that of rural areas surrounding the cities and larger towns. Rural areas and small 
towns less accessible to cities and larger towns are more likely to have experienced ongoing 
population decline over the past twenty years.

2.2.6 Although there had been overall population growth in every County over the fifteen years prior to 
2011, since then, the five adjoining north-westernmost Counties of Donegal, Mayo, Sligo, Leitrim 
and Roscommon, together with Monaghan, have experienced a combined net population loss. 
Falling or very low growth means that these six Counties experienced a net reduction of 1,300 
people since 2011.

2.2.7 It is clear that the development of the national motorway network over the past twenty years has 
influenced the settlement pattern, particularly in Leinster, on which it is primarily focused. There 
is an emerging concentration of population and economic activity along the M1 Dublin-Dundalk 
and M7/M9 Dublin-Portlaoise/Carlow corridors, reflecting a concentration of larger towns and 
their hinterlands.

2.2.8 Factors influencing settlement dispersal outside larger urban areas include housing affordability, 
especially relative to dwelling size, density and availability/supply. There is also a perceived 
higher quality of life when measured against concerns related to anti-social behaviour, traffic, 
or access to some services in urban areas. These preferences are facilitated by the prevalence of 
significant lands zoned for residential purposes adjoining most settlements and supportive local 
planning policies.

2.2.9 Although enterprise has become more mobile, employers are increasingly likely to locate where 
there are larger pools of labour. It has meant that in contrast to settlement, the spatial pattern 
of employment is mainly focused on the urban hierarchy of cities and large towns. In addition, it 
is increasingly common for employees to change jobs more often and where both partners in a 
couple work outside the home, they may wish to access employment appropriate to both of their 
needs. These factors further reinforce the tendency towards accessibility to the greater range of 
employment that is more likely to be in and around the larger urban areas.

2.2.10 Other factors driving the location of employment include scale, access to markets and suppliers, 
proximity to research and innovation and the availability of communications, transport, 
energy and water networks. When combined with a decline in the numbers employed in more 
traditional sectors related to agriculture, mining and in recent years, construction, the location of 
employment growth has been more fixed than that of settlement growth.

2.3 Business as Usual

2.3.1 Although a continuation of current trends, or ‘Business as Usual’ is a potential future scenario for 
growth and change in Ireland, this is not desirable, for a variety of reasons:-

 It has led to overdevelopment in some places and decline in others. This has meant that 
services and facilities may be rapidly required in many different areas, while may be 
underutilised elsewhere. This makes it costly and difficult to plan for future needs;

 It has impacted on the efficient and timely provision of a range of services and facilities 
related to people’s health and well-being;

 It has resulted in people travelling longer distances, often by car, which has contributed 
to car dependence and traffic congestion as well as wasteful time and energy spent 
commuting;

 It has made it difficult to provide viable, i.e. frequent, reliable, cost efficient and cost effective 
public transport in most places outside urban Dublin;

Page 60



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 13

 It has not led to balanced rural or urban growth outcomes, especially outside the ‘hinterland’ 
areas surrounding the largest cities and towns;

 It has affected social cohesion and in some locations reinforced social disadvantage;

 It has affected the vitality, fabric and character of the established parts of many of our towns 
and cities, whereby commercial activity has relocated to edge locations in some cases or has 
withdrawn completely in others;

 It has led to the incremental loss of agricultural land, put pressure on water resources and 
on environmentally sensitive areas and contributed to increasing carbon emissions. 

2.3.2 We cannot rely on Business as Usual to deliver shared national goals and it doesn’t have to be 
inevitable, but to move away from it will require some big decisions to be made in the shorter 
term that can be carried forward over a long period of time. Through the NPF process, we now 
have the opportunity to look ahead and shape Ireland’s future.

2.3.3 At this stage of the process, it is timely to consider what the alternative strategies to Business 
as Usual might be. In order to enable improved performance and make a difference at a national 
scale, these must include objectives that:- 

 Facilitate improvements to people’s quality of life and well-being;

 Prevent further overdevelopment and sprawl;

 Encourage population growth closer to where employment is located and is likely to be;

 Identify and support employment potential throughout Ireland, including greater regional 
employment growth; 

 Identify measures to encourage both rural and urban regeneration to address decline;

 Achieve effective regional development;

 Relieve development pressure on the Eastern part of the Country whilst protecting the key 
role played by Dublin; 

 Ensure good environmental stewardship by avoiding any further deterioration and 
addressing existing deficiencies;

 Reduce carbon emissions;

 Prioritise the development of infrastructure that can deliver national benefit – including 
renewable energies;

 Harness the planning system in order to maximise the role it can play in relation to climate 
change and renewable energy obligations;

 Manage the planning and development process so that the right development occurs in the 
most suitable places and at the right time, ensuring sustainability and best use of scarce 
resources.

2.4 Learning from our Experience

2.4.1 It has been almost fifteen years since the first national spatial plan for Ireland, the National 
Spatial Strategy, or ‘NSS’ was prepared in 2002. The NSS sought to achieve a better balance 
of social, economic and physical development through the identification of nine ‘gateways’ 
comprising twelve cities and towns and nine ‘hubs’ comprising eleven towns. Each was to be built 
up with critical scale and mass to provide a focus to influence wider regional development.

2.4.2 The NSS was important because it established spatial planning at a national level in Ireland, 
but was significantly hampered by a number of factors. These included proposals for the 
decentralisation of the civil service and some state agencies, a National Development Plan 
2007-2013 that aligned with the NSS but was superseded by the economic downturn. It was not 
possible for a €300m NSS ‘Gateway Innovation Fund’ launched in 2007, to materialise.

Page 61



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 14

2.4.3 Criticisms of the NSS include that it designated too many centres, created a perception of 
‘winners and losers’, wasn’t adequately supported by the political or local government systems 
or by a subsequent relaxation of controls on new rural housing, that it lacked an economic 
dimension and did not have statutory legislative backing.

2.4.4 It is striking that not one of the twenty-two fastest growing towns in Ireland between 2002 and 
2016 was an NSS gateway or hub settlement. The level of actual population growth in the twenty-
two fastest growing towns during this period and the level of population growth in the twenty-two 
NSS gateways and hub settlements, excluding Dublin, was almost identical.

2.4.5 This means that population growth in twenty-two designated NSS gateways and hubs from 2002 
was replicated by the new population that emerged in twenty-two, completely different and 
separate non-NSS designated settlements, that were much smaller at the outset. The average 
2002 population of the 22 fastest growing towns to 2016 was five times smaller, or just under 
6,000 people, than the average 2002 population of the twenty-two gateway and hub settlements, 
which was just under 30,000 people.

2.4.6 In most cases the rapid growth trajectory of the fastest growing towns in Ireland over the past 
twenty years had commenced prior to the publication of the NSS. If implemented as intended, 
the NSS could have made a difference. The outcomes arising from these trends were identified 
in a review of the NSS undertaken by the Department of Environment, Community and Local 
Government in 20101, by which time the legacy of a period of sustained growth in the absence of 
an effective overall plan had become apparent:-

 Development-driven planning and urban-generated commuter settlement patterns are 
creating demand for uneconomic and inefficient infrastructure and service provision in 
suburban and extra-urban green-field locations;

 Development has become more dispersed and fragmented geographically, with greater 
distances between where people live and work;

 Dispersed land use trends are undermining the integrity of Ireland’s key habitats and 
ecosystem networks and placing pressure on the quality of our water resources.

2.4.7 The introduction of new planning legislation in 2010 to address the issue of excessive land zoning 
resulted in the application of ‘core strategies’ to City/County Development Plans. This has led to a 
significant reduction in inappropriately zoned land and serves to highlight the critical importance 
of legislation to support national strategy. It has also been necessary to put measures in place to 
address the legacy of ‘unfinished estates’, 85% of which have now been resolved.

2.4.8 Whilst the experience of the previous National Spatial Strategy (NSS) didn’t influence the pattern 
of development in Ireland as intended, it provides valuable lessons for future planning at a 
national scale. As a result, it has become clear that it will be necessary for the National Planning 
Framework to:- 

 Be a statutory document, approved by the Oireachtas;

 Be backed by Government, both in terms of the Executive and across Departments and 
Agencies;

 Be aligned with and supported by public and private investment;

 Be a strategy as opposed to a ‘wish list’, that will involve hard choices;

 Address all parts of Ireland, avoid the perception of ‘winners’ and ‘losers’, but avoid 
unrealistically seeking to treat all parts of the Country in the same way;

 Include an economic dimension, but not be solely based on economic considerations;

 Include a particular focus on implementation and evaluation, with capacity for review.

1 Implementing the National Spatial Strategy: 2010 Update and Outlook Harnessing Potential, Delivering 
Competitiveness, Achieving Sustainability October 2010, DECLG.

Page 62



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 15

 Ireland’s growth trajectory is set to continue and will give rise to additional people, homes and 
jobs in the context of an ageing population, that will need to be supported by new infrastructure. 
In a Business as Usual scenario, this future growth and change is likely to be accommodated 
largely as it has been to date. 

 For a variety of reasons, Business as Usual is not a desirable option. Strategic intervention will 
therefore be required to counteract outcomes that will further impact on individual citizens and 
on society as a whole. An ‘NSS’ type scenario, whereby an adopted strategy is neither supported 
by nor consistently aligned with investment, would give rise to uncertainty, lack credibility and 
result in Business as Usual.

 Additional resources and investment in the Business as Usual model may serve to alleviate 
pressures in the short term, but will not resolve them in the long run. A strategy that includes a 
fundamental shift in how we do ‘place making’ in Ireland is likely to be required if we are to make 
existing places better and create new places of outstanding quality.

 To fully address the range of issues involved in ensuring our best response to future growth and 
change, the NPF will need to fully co-ordinate with other major Government policies, including 
the reviewed Capital Investment Plan, both in the current review period to 2021 and in the longer 
term thereafter. It will also need to integrate with the forthcoming National Climate Change 
Adaptation and Mitigation Strategies, which must take a similar, long term view.

 To ensure success, the National Planning Framework will require Government support, broader 
political buy-in and ongoing alignment with policy decisions and capital investment plans. 
Statutory backing, subject to the legislative process, is also desirable, but should not be an 
impediment to progressing the NPF to approval stage.

 The National Planning Framework process gives rise to a series of emerging policy choices, 
which are set out in the subsequent sections of this paper. At the outset, it is useful to reflect on a 
range of broad but interrelated considerations. These include:-

 Where the additional future population will live.

 How the needs of an ageing population will be accommodated.

 The types of housing that will be needed.

 The sort of communities that will be created.

 Where future jobs will be located and what type of jobs they will be.

 The services and amenities (e.g. education, health, leisure, shopping etc.) that will be 
required to meet people’s needs.

 How people and goods will move around.

 The strategic infrastructure that will be required and how it will be prioritised.

 How key environmental challenges will be addressed, including reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions and adapting to the consequences of climate change (e.g. flooding) as well as 
transitioning to a low carbon sustainable economy and society.

 How our governance structures will need to adapt to address national challenges.

 The National Planning Framework process is a key opportunity to influence the spatial pattern of 
development throughout Ireland for the benefit of the Country as a whole, over the next twenty 
years and beyond.

Page 63



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 16

3.1 What does the NPF mean for Health and Well-Being?

3.1.1 There is a view that the National Planning Framework will be a Government document 
comprising policy measures that don’t necessarily relate to people’s everyday lives within our 
working, living or community environments. This issues and choices paper offers the opportunity 
for every citizen to consider whether change needs to take place, or if we are content as a nation 
to continue with Business as Usual? 

3.1.2 During 2016, Ireland marked the centenary of the 1916 Rising and as a Nation, we reflected 
on our history, the Country’s progress and societal changes that have taken place over the 
intervening one-hundred year period. It is clear that we now enjoy a better quality of life than 
those who lived in Ireland one-hundred years ago. 

3.1.3 Accompanying these positive improvements are a range of lifestyle choices that are available to 
us now, in 21st Century Ireland. The consequences of some of the lifestyle choices that we are 
accustomed to are impacting on our own personal health and wellbeing as well as the overall 
health and wellbeing of places in Ireland.

People’s Health 
and Well-Being 3

 source: www.cso.ie

Page 64



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 17

3.2 Trends Influencing our Health and Wellbeing

3.2.1 The built environment is an important determinant of health – directly, through air pollution, 
road traffic, noise, floods and climate and indirectly, through accessibility, safety, mixed land-
use, street design and green open spaces. How we ‘make’ places can have a huge influence on 
people’s health and wellbeing. 

3.2.2 The Healthy Ireland survey conducted in 2015 indicated that 85% of the Irish population aged 
15 and over report their general health as being ‘good’ or ‘very good’. ‘Social connectedness’ 
and ‘wellbeing’ were included as topic areas within the survey, indicating that general health 
encompasses more than just physical well-being.

3.2.3 Enjoyment of health is not evenly distributed in society, with the incidence of chronic conditions 
and accompanying lifestyle behaviours being strongly influenced by socio-economic status, levels 
of education, employment and housing. Unsurprisingly, poorer people tend to live in poor quality 
built environments and have greater exposure to adverse environmental conditions. In turn this 
can exacerbate physical and mental health conditions, such as obesity-related diseases and 
depression.

3.2.4 Modern indoor lifestyles are associated with reduced levels of exercise, increasing rates of 
obesity, diabetes and heart disease and higher incidence of depression. Recent evidence 
indicates that 60% of adults and one in four children in Ireland is either overweight or obese2. 
Whilst diet clearly has a significant role to play in tackling threats to human health, planning also 
plays an important part. 

3.2.5 Population ageing is also one of the most significant trends of the 21st century, with far-reaching 
implications for all aspects of society. While the number of people aged 65 or over in Ireland 
has effectively doubled since 1960, the proportionate increase in the population aged over 85 
has been even greater and has nearly quadrupled during the last half-century. These trends will 
accelerate in the near future.

2  Department of Health, Obesity Policy and Action Plan, September 2016

Page 65



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 18

Page 66



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 19

3.2.6 Since 2008, very low levels of housing have been constructed, especially in the main cities and 
urban areas where most needed. Although the average household size had reduced to 2.7 people 
in 2015 in Ireland, the most common household type in the EU-28 in 2014 was the single person 
living alone (33%), and the trend towards this pattern is also occurring in Ireland, albeit from a 
much lower level of 22% (Eurostat, 2014). This means that with an expected reduction in housing 
occupancy in the future in Ireland, there will be more people living on their own. 

Page 67



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 20

3.2.7 Social isolation can constitute health risks in similar ways to those associated with smoking and 
obesity. Moreover, the capacity for leading an active and healthy lifestyle is severely compromised 
in this scenario leading to a negative and costly impact on people’s own personal health. 

3.2.8 How we move around also impacts on our health and wellbeing. There are approximately two 
million cars registered in Ireland which is reflective of our high car dependency rate. In 2011 
nearly one in ten workers spent one hour or more commuting to work while 69% of commuters 
travelled to work by car. More than one in seven commuters residing in Fingal, Laois, Westmeath, 
Meath, Kildare and Wicklow had travel times of an hour or longer to their job (2011).

3.2.9 This pattern of car dependence means that many city and particularly town-based businesses 
and services require significant car parking to ensure viability, as they are reliant on an 
increasingly dispersed car-borne catchment. As well as urban car parks, this has resulted in a 
widespread physical move towards out of town or edge of town shopping, business, leisure and 
service activity.

3.2.10 The physical move to out of town locations has resulted in loss of trade, footfall and vitality that 
has seriously undermined the vibrancy of many historic main streets and urban centres. It has 
made it more difficult to ensure that they remain attractive, viable places in which to do business, 
work, live, or visit and has undermined the concept of the town as a compact urban system.

3.3 Linking Health and Well-Being to Place

3.3.1 Creating and maintaining environments that encourage people to make healthier, more active 
choices is central to making the healthy choice the easy choice. Factors that are of relevance in 
promoting an active environment include location, density and mix of land use; provision of safe 
walking and cycling routes; street layout and connectivity; availability and density of open and 
green space; accessible sports facilities and proximity to public transport facilities and services.

3.3.2 Exposure to the natural environment has proven to have a positive impact on mental health. How 
future development in Ireland is planned will be a significant determinant of quality of life for 
people. Safe walking facilities and cycling paths are some of the essential supports needed in 
communities to enable healthier outcomes for individuals.

3.3.3 The current spatial pattern of development presents a challenge for improving both social 
cohesion and for healthy lifestyles. There is a need to consider the issue of community cohesion 
and a more healthy society and how we can better integrate people with services and amenities 
and promote sustainable travel, i.e. walking and cycling. There is a need for greater integration 
and joined up investment decisions across the planning, health and transport sectors which can 
all help to make sustainable and active travel a more attractive alternative to the private car.

3.3.4 In addition to new homes and additional jobs to accommodate future growth and change, 
the National Planning Framework will need to consider the quality of life offer that is central 
to sustainable communities. This is not only to ensure that places are attractive for living 
and working in, but also to build a resilience within people and places that allows for better 
outcomes, particularly in relation to our wellbeing. 

Page 68



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 21

 A continuation of the pattern of development in Ireland over the last twenty years without 
intervention would more than likely cause quality of life and overall societal wellbeing to 
deteriorate. Although people in Ireland are now living longer than ever before, not all are living 
those longer lives in good health.

 Business as Usual’ is a continuation of current patterns and approaches to the health and 
wellbeing of people and places in Ireland. Consequently:

 This approach is likely to reinforce existing trends in people’s health resulting in an increase 
in the prevalence of chronic illnesses due to environmental factors. Coupled with increased 
levels of obesity which are prevalent in children as well as adults, our general health will 
deteriorate and compromise the quality of life that we can enjoy;

 This type of pattern would more than likely mean that the older built-up areas of cities would 
suffer further stagnation or population decline. In addition, the likelihood is that people in 
Ireland will spend even more time commuting, less time with family, be at risk of social 
isolation and be less inclined to participate in the communities they live in, all of which will 
impact negatively on our mental health;

 Without intervention, the exceptional relative scale of Dublin is such that hinterland 
population growth is likely to expand further. The Cities of Cork and Galway as well as 
Limerick and Waterford are also likely to exert similar influence on their surrounding County 
areas. This scenario does not support a healthy outcome whereby smaller settlements in city 
catchments will have to cater for exceptional demand at a scale that they are not equipped 
to deal with, leading to situations such as children not being able to secure a school place in 
their local area and pressure on basic facilities such as access to healthcare;

 The likelihood of further outmigration and consequent population decline in rural areas 
outside urban catchments would accelerate the ageing profile of the population, which in a 
negative feedback cycle, would hasten the process of decline. Many older people live alone 
and as services become less viable and withdraw due to falling population, they would as 
a consequence, also have less opportunity for social interaction. Areas with limited social 
interaction and community participation (including for older people), whether rural or urban, 
tend to stagnate and suffer from high real or perceived levels of anti-social behaviour and 
crime. 

 In order to move away from ‘Business As Usual’ it will be necessary for alternatives to consider 
the following: 

 Support for the creation of sustainable communities that have good social interaction 
and networks and demonstrate resilience and a shared sense of civic pride and active 
participation in shaping their local environment;

 Greater policy integration and joined up investment decisions across the planning, health 
and transport policy sectors which are proven to help to make sustainable and active travel 
more attractive alternatives to the private car;

 Fostering an improved ‘quality of life’ offer for people through place-making and design that 
can be applied to every city, town and village in Ireland;

 Improving living environments for all so that social disadvantage is tackled and prevented 
rather than being facilitated;

 Ensuring that healthy-living options are available within communities in the form of access 
to sports and recreation facilities, amenities and green areas as well as walking and cycling 
facilities that can also assist in offering alternatives for travelling to school and work;

 Reducing car dependence;

 Plan-led development that can anticipate the needs of a community and make provision for 
that community. 

Page 69



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 22

 Are we prepared to make changes now so that a ‘healthier places’ legacy can be handed 
over to the next generation of Ireland’s citizens?

 What policies can the NPF include to effect improvements to our general health, including 
physical and mental wellbeing, in Ireland over the next twenty years?

 Are there key priorities the NPF can identify to ensure better or improved health and 
wellbeing of people and places in Ireland?

 Are there facilities that the NPF needs to highlight for places in Ireland in order to enable 
greater participation in a healthy lifestyle?

Page 70



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 23

4.1 Our Capital, Cities and Towns

4.1.1 Ireland has experienced a more spatially uneven pattern of regional and urban development than 
other similar OECD countries and we depend more on our largest city than other comparator 
countries. (See tables below). 

4.1.2 Dublin, which is both our largest city and Capital city, plays a vital international role and has been 
a major part of economic success in recent decades with the result that its primacy continues 
to grow. The Dublin City Region now accounts for 40% of the national population and 49% of 
economic output (2016). In the UK, where London as a globally significant City dominates, the 
London Metropolitan Area extends to 14 million people or 22% of the UK population and 32% of 
GDP.

4.1.3 Ireland is characterised by very strong growth of Dublin and an absence of comparative growth in 
any other urban centre. If Belfast, Derry/Londonderry and other smaller cities and large towns in 
Northern Ireland are included, a more balanced picture emerges, highlighting the importance of 
an all-Island approach, based on a combined population of 6.4 million people (2011). 

4.1.4 A key difference between Ireland and the selected other small developed countries and our 
nearest neighbour the UK, is the comparative weakness of the ‘next tier’ of cities and their 
associated regions. The selected comparator countries have at least three next tier cities with 
more than 100,000 people as outlined in Table 4.1.1 below.

4.1.5 Moreover, the spatial pattern of Dublin’s influence now extends from Louth through Meath, 
Westmeath and Kildare to Laois, Carlow, Wicklow and Wexford, also partially affecting Cavan, 
Longford and Kilkenny. This spread of activity together with the objective of achieving more 
effective regional development elsewhere in Ireland makes it difficult to prioritise the needs of 
the Capital and our other cities.

4.1.6 Dublin’s success as a city-region is a double edged sword. It has enabled Ireland to compete in an 
international context but such success has also given rise to pressures in areas such as housing, 
transport and infrastructural requirements, which affect competitiveness. 

4.1.7 If Dublin is underperforming, Ireland is underperforming. Should the Dublin City-Region suffer 
a loss of competitiveness and become a less attractive place in which to invest as a result of 
housing and infrastructural bottlenecks, investment and influence will inevitably be attracted to 
other similar city-regions in Europe or elsewhere. 

4.1.8 Our capital city must be planned for in a way that ensures it can continue to play its international 
role, while being complemented by a significantly strengthened role for a next tier of cities and 
their broader regions. The National Planning Framework is an opportunity to address the orderly 
development of our cities in an integrated manner.

4.1.9 It is notable that of the five Cities (Dublin, Cork, Limerick, Galway, Waterford), only the Galway 
built-up area experienced consistent population growth in excess of the national average (31%) 
from 1996-2016, increasing in population by more than 23,000 or 41%.

4.1.10 In contrast, population growth in the Cork built-up area (28,300 or 16%), Limerick (15,600 or 20%) 
and Waterford (8,800 or 20%) have been significantly below the national average over the past 20 
years, despite recent increases apparent in these three Cities and particularly in Cork, since 2011.

A Place-Making 
Strategy 4

Page 71



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 24

Table 4.1.1  Ireland and the Primacy of Dublin in comparison to similar advanced small Countries

Country Ireland Denmark New Zealand Scotland Finland

Population 2011 4.58 million 5.57 million 4.24 million 5.3 million 5.39 million

Largest City Region Dublin Copenhagen Auckland Glasgow Helsinki

City Region  
Population- 2011

1.69 million 2.0 million 1.42 million 1.79 million 1.47 million

City Region as % 
Population

37% 36% 33% 30% 27%

City Region as %  
National GDP

48% 43% 35% 33% 37%

Source: OECD/Eurostat

Table 4.1.2  The Hierarchy of Cities and Towns in Ireland in comparison to similar advanced small Countries

Country Ireland 
(incl. Northern 
Ireland)

Denmark New Zealand Scotland Finland

Cities >500,000 Dublin Copenhagen Auckland Glasgow Helsinki

Cities >200,000 (Belfast)
Cork

Aarhus Christchurch
Wellington

Aberdeen
Edinburgh

Tampere

Cities >100,000 Aalborg
Odense

Dunedin
Hamilton
Tauranga

Dundee Jyväskylä
Kuopio
Lahti
Oulu
Turku

Cities >50,000 (Derry)
Limerick
Galway
(Lisburn
(Newtownabbey)
(Bangor)
Waterford

Esbjerg
Horsens
Kolding
Randers
Roskilde
Vejle

Hastings
Napier
Nelson
New Plymouth
Palmerston North
Rotorua

Cumbernauld
Dunfermline
East Kilbride
Hamilton
Livingston
Paisley

Hameenlinna
Joensuu
Kotka
Kouvola
Lappeenranta
Mikkeli
Pori
Rovaniemi
Salo
Seinajoki
Vaasa

Total Number of Cities 5 (5) 10 12 10 18

Number of Towns 
>15,000

25 (16) 35 15 41 36

Overall Total 30 (21) 45 27 51 54

Source: citypopulation.de

4.1.11 Ireland’s regional cities appear to offer significant potential to be the focal point to drive growth and 
development in their regions. The regional cities are all major centres of employment, third level 
education and healthcare and are accessible to the motorway network and other communications 
infrastructure such as airports and ports. Beyond the city catchments, there is a network of towns 
that can play a similar role.

4.1.12 Give the scale and important regional roles played by the four cities, all have significant potential 
to complement Dublin, to absorb some of the strain that the Capital has been subject to in terms of 
accommodating growth in employment, housing need and infrastructural requirements and drive 
their wider regions, which may also require cities to work in collaboration with each other and/or in 
conjunction with other towns, to borrow and share strengths.Page 72

file:///Users/seanconnolly/Desktop/javascript:sym(2122)


 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 25

4.1.13 The ‘Northern Powerhouse’ concept, focused on an alliance of former industrial cities in 
Northern England, including Manchester, Leeds, Liverpool and Sheffield, is intended to be a 
counterbalance to London. This type of regional co-operation may be a potential model for a co-
ordinated investment and development strategy to strengthen Ireland’s ‘next tier’ cities and their 
associated regions.

4.1.14 It is significant that a recent EU ESPON study which tested future spatial development scenarios 
in Europe to 2050, identified such a ‘second tier cities’ approach as offering the highest level 
of territorial cohesion and competitiveness at a European level as compared to alternative 
scenarios that focused on the largest principal cities (which most closely equates with the 
current reality in Ireland) and a scenario that focused on the smallest cities and large towns.

4.1.15 At the tier below the cities, there are a number of towns which, due to their level of service 
provision and extensive catchments, serve an important role for those areas that fall outside 
the reach and influence of the cities. In some cases they can complement the role of the city. 
However, lessons from the past suggest that if we continue to focus on multiple towns, this will 
continue to undermine the performance and potential of our cities and ultimately the wider 
regions. 

 Under the Business As Usual Scenario, the current lop-sided pattern of development of the State 
will continue, which in the longer term will be neither beneficial to Dublin nor the Country as a 
whole. 

 Any alternatives will need to consider the following:-

 Protecting the importance of Dublin as a national driver of growth by prioritising measures 
to address barriers to its international competitiveness;

 Enabling a city centre outwards process of renewal and regeneration and continued 
investment in transport and local infrastructure and housing policies to deliver more 
compact cities;

 The potential for a nationally significant step-change in the promotion of one or more of the 
four regional cities through co-ordinated planning and investment that would be long term 
and transformational;

 The future role and scale of development in our towns as successful places in the context of 
their regions.

 Taking on board all of the relevant environmental and physical capacity issues, what role 
should our cities have as part of the NPF? 

 How might we develop one or more strong regional complements to Dublin that can 
address their whole city-region, including interactions between settlements?

 Do we need to reform and strengthen administrative and governance structures so that 
they are capable of delivering the necessary alliances, collaboration and actions to build 
up our cities and their regions?

 How might we develop an urban policy that distinguishes between development within the 
existing built-up area of cities and towns and greenfield development sites?

 How might we distinguish between the role of towns within the wider hinterland of the 
cities and those located outside the influence of the cities?

 What measures could be used to examine potential densification scenarios that may be 
applied to parts of existing urban areas?

Page 73



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 26

4.2 Opportunities for our Regions 

The Role of the Regions

4.2.1 Regional development is recognised as making an important contribution to national prosperity. 
In response, there has been an increased focus on the regional dimension of national policy 
across Government Departments and State Agencies, including the Regional Action Plans for 
Jobs and the focus on regional policy within the IDA ‘Winning’ Strategy3. 

4.2.2 In recent years, regional governance has been reformed4, resulting in three new Regional 
Assemblies, namely the Eastern and Midlands Regional Assembly (EMRA), the Northern and 
Western Regional Assembly (NWRA) and the Southern Regional Assembly (SRA). The principal 
functions of the Regional Assemblies are to co-ordinate, promote and support strategic planning 
and sustainable development of the regions and to manage EU programmes of assistance5 and 
their general impact in their regions.

4.2.3 Each of the Regional Assemblies has a leadership role to play in identifying regional policies and 
coordinating initiatives that support the delivery and implementation of national planning policy. 
It is also the role of the Regional Assemblies to co-ordinate local authorities to secure shared 
national and local objectives.

4.2.4 The primary vehicle for this is the preparation and implementation of Regional Spatial and 
Economic Strategies (RSESs). The RSESs will provide a greater level of focus around the high 
level strategic policies of the NPF. 

Figure 4.2.1 

Configuration of Regional Assembly Areas in Ireland6

3 Available at: http://www.idaireland.com/docs/publications/IDA_STRATEGY_FINAL.pdf 
4 Under the 2012 Government’s “Putting People First” policy paper and the Local Government Reform Act 2014.
5 Regional Operational Programmes.
6 Map Source: Southern Regional Assembly

Page 74

http://www.idaireland.com/docs/publications/IDA_STRATEGY_FINAL.pdf


 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 27

Regional Dynamics

4.2.5 The Eastern and Midlands Region has a population of 2.3 million people in comparison to 1.6 
million in the Southern Region and 0.85m in the Northern and Western. The difference in population 
structures is also reflected in a significant divergence of population density across regions (with 
population density in the Dublin sub-region estimated at 1,401 persons per km2 compared to 32 
persons per km2 in the West). 7

Table 4.2.1    Regional Assemblies and Constituent Areas for the purposes of Regional Planning

Region Assembly (RA) Sub Region7 Local Authorities 

Eastern and Midlands RA Dublin Fingal, Dublin City, South Dublin, Dún Laoghaire-
Rathdown

Eastern Louth, Kildare, Meath, Wicklow

 Midlands Longford, Laois, Offaly, Westmeath

2,325,122 people - 
approximately 49% of the 
population

Region Sub Region Local Authorities 

Southern RA South-East           Carlow, Tipperary, Waterford (City and County), 
Wexford, Kilkenny

South-West Cork City, Cork County, Kerry

Mid-West Clare, Limerick (City and County), Tipperary 

1,585,992, or approximately 33% of the population

Region Sub Region Local Authorities

Northern and Western RA Border Cavan, Donegal, Leitrim, Louth, Monaghan, Sligo 

West Galway, Mayo, Roscommon

846,862 people - approximately 
18% of the population

4.2.6 The economic productivity of each region has increased over the past 15 years, with the Eastern 
and Midlands Region having levels of regional productivity above the national average, the Southern 
Region largely in line with the national average, while the Northern and Western Region has been 
consistently below the national average.

4.2.7 Each Regional Assembly area shows evidence of regional strengths in a particular business sector 
such as business services in the EMRA area, industrial products and services and pharmaceuticals 
in the SRA area and medical technologies in the NWRA area. An examination of business clustering 
patterns suggests that the largest cities in Ireland are the key focus for the knowledge and related 
business sectors. Sectors such as professional, scientific, technical, finance and insurance also tend 
to be more prevalent within the four largest cities. 

4.2.8 The sectoral spread of IDA assisted companies in Ireland indicates dominance in ICT, Biopharma 
and financial services, accounting for around half of all IDA supported sites. The evidence suggests 
a continued trend towards clustering and the emergence of large urban centres as focal points of 
national and global trade. It is apparent that cities are the key regional drivers for economic activity 
in the three regional assembly areas and that this trend is likely to continue. Indigenous enterprise is 
more broadly spread, but also primarily focused on cities and larger towns.

7  This refers to Strategic Planning Areas (SPA’s) which broadly correspond with the former Regional Assembly Areas 
(NUTS 111 classification) 

Page 75



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 28

4.2.9 Unemployment rates over the past 18 years (q2 1998-q2 2016) indicate that most of the sub regions 
(Strategic Planning Areas) where the unemployment rate was above the national average in 1998 
remain above the national average in 2016 and those below the national average remained so in 
2016, with the east and southeast performing better than areas such as the border and western 
parts of the Country. The two sub-regional areas with the largest cities i.e. Dublin and Cork had the 
lowest levels of unemployment, highlighting the importance of cities for job resilience. 

Effective Regional Development (ERD) 

4.2.10 The term balanced regional development (BRD) is a source of confusion and debate. It has led to 
a perception of diverting resources from one area to another to make up for an imbalance, or is 
seen as a form of equalisation. This has manifested itself as ‘urban versus rural’ and in particular 
‘Dublin v the rest of the Country’ with limited acknowledgement of the individual and collective 
decisions we make as a society that have assisted in shaping current trends. 

4.2.11 Issues such as the global influence on markets and the changing nature of employment locations 
and migration patterns have impacted on our ability to focus resources in such a way that they give 
maximum effect and return on investment within the regions. In response it would be productive 
for the NPF to examine effective regional development i.e. development that can make a difference, 
and to look at how urban-rural partnerships can work to the benefit of the regions.

4.2.12 Effective regional development is about reducing disparities by embracing the spatial development 
opportunities specific to each of the regions and in particular the regional assembly areas. This 
requires choices to be made that result in sustainable solutions and means that NPF policies 
may look different from one region to another. More specifically, this will require a more tailored 
approach to the regional development, which will need to be reflected in the Regional Spatial and 
Economic Strategies (RSESs).

4.2.13 A more tailored approach to regional development requires an acknowledgement that in some 
cases building regional resilience is a priority, as opposed to an expectancy of high levels of growth 
everywhere. This is to ensure that weaker regions have the ability to recover more quickly from 
setbacks and to arrest impacts such as population decline and the economic shocks experienced 
in recent years. It also reinforces the need to move from a focus on legacy issues to future planning 
that can maximise the capabilities of the regions.

Realising Effective Regional Development 

4.2.14 There is extensive research into the determinants of regional growth, including factors such 
as human capital, critical mass of population, density, frequency of large urban centres and 
infrastructure. In terms of realising the potential of the regions, some key considerations are set 
out below.

4.2.15 The OECD8 suggests that human capital is a robust determinant of regional growth and that 
reducing the proportion of people in a region with very low skills seems to make more difference 
than increasing the share with very high skills. They also indicate that regional policy has often 
focused too much on physical infrastructure, particularly transport. Infrastructure is a necessary 
but not alone a sufficient condition for growth. Its impact increases where investments in human 
capital and innovation are present, hence the need for integrated policies.

4.2.16 The National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030 and the National Skills Strategy 2025 include 
an emphasis on the need for greater regional collaboration among education and training providers 
and this is being advanced through the regional clusters of higher education institutions and the 
Regional Skills Fora which involve further education and training providers, higher education 
institutions and employers. The National Strategy for Higher Education also recommended the 
consolidation of the Institute of Technology sector and the creation of a small number of multi-
campus technological universities which has the potential to further strengthen higher education 
provision in the regions, supporting indigenous enterprise through skills development and 
innovation and becoming an important differentiator in attracting foreign direct investment. There 
is also significant potential for institutional collaboration on a North-South basis to advance cross-
border regional development and strategically advance Irish higher education on an all-island 
basis.

8  Supporting Growth in all Regions 2012 OECD

Page 76



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 29

4.2.17 There is a correlation between large urban areas and regional economic productivity. This is 
partly due to global influences on economic markets and the changing nature of employment 
locations and migration patterns. An examination of business clustering patterns suggests that 
the largest cities in Ireland are the key focus for the knowledge and related business sectors. It is 
therefore likely that sectors such as professional, scientific, technical, finance and insurance will 
continue to be more prevalent within urban locations.

4.2.18 Outside urban areas, the further development of industrial clusters where natural comparative 
advantages exist, can be exploited, for example in the agri-food, creative, clean energy, marine 
and tourism sectors. Market functions suggest that business sectors have very specific locational 
requirements and existence of clusters in specific industry sectors/activities is important for 
regional economies. Ultimately it is the individual enterprise which will decide on the optimal 
location for their operations.

4.2.19 Strategic transport planning can help regions achieve their potential by identifying transport 
networks required to serve social and economic development. At regional level, there is a 
need for more formal integration between land use and transport, with the approach in the 
Greater Dublin Area (GDA) being a good example of how this can be achieved i.e. a requirement 
for mutual consistency between the Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy and the GDA 
Transport Strategy. An extension of this approach to other regional assembly areas would greatly 
strengthen levels of integration between land use planning and transport planning across the 
country.

 The ‘business as usual’ model is a continuation of current patterns and approaches to regional 
development. Consequently:

 This approach is likely to reinforce existing patterns and disparities amongst the regions; 

 It is likely that employment patterns will show an increase in employment across all 
regions but with increased divergence between employment growth in the commuter areas 
surrounding Dublin with much lower rates of growth in places such as the border areas and 
western parts of the country; 

 Regional investment will continue but will not be tailored to where it can make the most impact. 

 Any alternatives will need to consider the following:-

 A more tailored approach to regional development as a one size fits all approach hasn’t worked. 

 Potential to increase human capital in order to maximise the potential of the regions and 
reduce disparities.

 Regions collectively harnessing shared strengths, combining assets and providing co-
ordination to improve regional performance.

 Aligning regional clustering with regional place making. 

 Strengthening regional cities and towns as drivers of growth for the urban and rural areas of 
the regions.

 Aligning development with the need to transition to a sustainable, low carbon economy and 
society.

 Leadership, governance and the role of the Regional Assemblies.

Page 77



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 30

  
 What are the levers for effective regional development?

 What is needed to be done to increase human capital at a regional level? 

 What regional ‘value proposition’ i.e. an innovation, service, or combination of measures 
and approaches can make the regions more successful and what are the means by which 
this can be achieved?

 Are there strategic issues (i) across local authority boundaries or (ii) on an inter-regional 
basis, that the Regional Assemblies can co-ordinate to ensure more effective sub-regional 
and regional outcomes?

 Are there funding opportunities than can support investment on a regional basis?

4.3 The Potential of Rural Ireland

An Expression of ‘Rural’

4.3.1 ‘Rural Ireland’ has an historical resonance and a cultural depth that permeates Irish society, our 
economy and our environment. Our historic connection with land is complex and emotive. There 
is no single, universally preferred description of ‘rural’ that serves all policy purposes. Definitions 
vary and can be based on population density, settlement size and commuting distance. Rural 
areas vary widely particularly in terms of remoteness, dependence on primary production and 
human resource capacity. 

4.3.2 Rural Ireland has changed and continues to change from its more traditional association with 
agriculture, as evidenced in the Commission for the Economic Development of Rural Areas 
(CEDRA, 2014) Report and the more recent (2017) Realising our Rural Potential Action Plan for 
Rural Development. ‘Rurality’ is now associated with the idea of regions across Europe, with 
cities seen as the driving forces of regional economic development.

4.3.3 People in Ireland connect with ‘rural’ as a place for a number of different reasons. For some, 
it is the place in which they have chosen to live and work, where the land not only provides a 
home, but also provides an income. Rural represents a way of life for a huge number of Irish 
people, whereas it implies Irish culture and heritage to others with ‘picture postcard’ landscapes, 
historical buildings and towns and villages that are uniquely Irish in their built form. Rural also 
suggests a sense of remoteness and isolation which people actively seek out. Towns and villages 
across Ireland can be classified as rural due to their location and the role they serve in a wider 
rural hinterland.

4.3.4 Neither ‘rural areas’ nor the communities that live within particular types of rural area are 
identical. Growing spatial, social and economic disparities between rural areas are a reflection 
of the fact that stronger rural areas are not only located in a geographically advantageous place, 
but also have the human and social capital to identify their needs and effectively engage with 
emerging strategies. 

4.3.5 Taken as a whole, rural Ireland experienced unprecedented levels of population growth between 
1996 and 2011, at a rate and scale that had not been experienced since before the Famine. This 
level of growth was almost unique in Europe, where the trend has generally been that rural 
populations have declined, especially where located outside the catchments of large cities.

Page 78



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 31

 The Resilience of Rural Areas

4.3.6 The nature of Ireland’s rural economy has seen a dramatic change in recent years. Many people 
who live in rural areas are now not directly involved in farming or farm-related activities. The 
current challenge is to achieve an appropriate balance between supporting Ireland’s agricultural 
communities and other traditional rural based economic activity while simultaneously fostering 
sustainable economic diversification and development in rural areas. 

4.3.7 Rural areas score highly in terms of qualitative, ‘human’, place-making factors such as the 
vibrancy of places and place-based leadership and stewardship. This differentiation can assist 
in overcoming challenges where more urban characteristics such as scale or infrastructure may 
be lacking. The National Planning Framework is an opportunity to co-ordinate these elements 
into integrated place-based strategies to activate and grow the full range of local strengths 
throughout Ireland. 

4.3.8 Underlying trends indicate that many rural areas and small-medium size towns have not proven 
resilient to ongoing structural changes. These include the decline of traditional rural industries, 
the shifting nature and location of employment as well as the physical form of retail and 
commercial development.

4.3.9 The CEDRA report examined the factors that have led to a decline in the social and economic 
viability of many towns that has affected their capacity to attract and sustain investment. The 
report concluded:- “In general towns that have experienced sustained growth in population tend, 
regardless of their size, to be near or accessible to larger towns or the five Cities.” The report 
also states that the ultimate consequence of unsustainable economic choices, i.e. migration, is 
most keenly felt in rural areas. 

4.3.10 Unsustainable economic choices have had worrying consequences for rural areas. On the one 
hand, more accessible rural areas in the hinterland of strong performing urban areas have 
benefited from the rapid growth that has taken place over the last twenty years. However, 
in combination with adjoining settlements, growth has taken place at a scale that was 
never intended and has proven difficult and expensive to service in terms of amenities and 
infrastructure. 

4.3.11 Rural population decline in areas that are less accessible to larger cities and towns in Ireland 
was masked by overall population growth in every County between 2001 and 2011, but has 
become more apparent since then. This is supported by the conclusions of the CEDRA Report 
where it was reported that during the period 1991-2011, rural areas close or accessible to the 
main cities and larger towns experienced significant population growth, whereas rural areas 
more remote or less accessible to towns and cities continued to experience significant population 
decline. This is also identified in the Action Plan for Rural Development.

4.3.12 There are policies in place across each of the local authorities in Ireland that currently facilitate 
living in the open countryside. Set out below is a visualisation of the number of planning 
permissions granted for houses in the countryside over a 14 year period, referred to as ‘one-off 
houses’ or single houses.

Page 79



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 32

4.3.13 It will be necessary to protect some rural areas from unsustainable growth pressures as 
experienced in the recent past, whilst ensuring that there are attractive alternatives to urban-
generated rural development in the hinterland of cities and larger towns. A different approach to 
rural development will be required in areas that are less accessible to large urban areas, but in 
the context of localised rural-urban hinterlands.

Rural-Urban Interdependence 

4.3.14 Effective spatial planning has an important role to play in ensuring that Ireland plays to its 
strengths and delivers a strong dynamic between rural areas and urban concentrations, to 
deliver better standards of living for all. The interactions between urban areas and their rural 
hinterlands are key to harnessing rural potential.

4.3.15 The unprecedented scale of population growth in much of Rural Ireland to 2011 set an 
unsustainable standard. It also overshadowed underlying trends that appear to have accelerated 
and become prevalent in recent years. It is clear that there is an important relationship between 
the social and economic well-being of rural areas and their proximity and accessibility to viable 
towns and cities. The nature of the interactions between the different types of rural and urban 
Ireland, are critical to ensuring the resilience of rural places in Ireland.

4.3.16 Rural areas and towns retain distinctive place-based characteristics and many have historically 
generated populations far larger than those living in them today, with connections throughout 
the world. In the context of globalisation and sameness, such place-based considerations matter 
more than ever before. Notwithstanding recent trends, the authenticity and potential of places 
throughout Ireland are of immense value. 

Figure 4.3.1 

Planning Permission Grants, Houses 2001 - 2015 
(Excludes Flats/Apartments) Source: CSO, Statbank BHA02 

4.3.17 The realisation of more effective growth in Ireland’s rural-urban hinterlands will require the 
variety of difference throughout Ireland, which is one of our unique strengths, to be brought into 
play. This key asset is built on a legacy of place-based cultural inheritance, which is so much part 
of us that we might overlook it. It has the potential to positively interact with technological change 
and improved connectivity, such as broadband, and in doing so, to further add to place-value.

Page 80



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 33

4.3.18 This type of place-based approach will enable the National Planning Framework to address all parts 
of the Country, whether, rural, urban or in-between, at a time when all are more interdependent 
than ever. In contrast to a small number of large city-regions, there is a much larger number of 
rural-urban hinterlands throughout Ireland. 

4.3.19 The National Planning Framework will seek to address urban-generated development in the 
hinterland of cities and larger towns and promote the development of integrated place-based 
strategies for rural-urban hinterlands. These will build on the unique and distinctive assets of 
localities throughout Ireland, in relation to food production and food, culture and heritage, landscape 
and tourism in the context of opportunities arising from new technologies and forms of clean energy 
production.

 
 Over the last twenty years in Ireland, some rural areas have benefited whilst others have been 

exposed not only to the consequences of the recent economic downturn but to long term trends 
that have undermined their viability. Addressing that transformation is challenging as the nature of 
many rural communities has been fundamentally changed through the decline of traditional rural 
industries and growing connections between rural and urban areas. 

 In the immediate short term, the three-year Action Plan for Rural Development (2017) will 
implement a range of economic and social initiatives across Rural Ireland. To build on this, 
the National Planning Framework will provide a strategic long-term vision within which future 
challenges for rural Ireland will be framed and addressed. 

 It is apparent that notwithstanding urban generated growth in some city hinterlands, in the absence 
of any plan or strategy, ‘business as usual’ is likely to lead to the further decline of those rural areas 
in Ireland that are less accessible to our cities and large towns;

 Without intervention, the scale of population growth in rural Ireland will continue to set an 
unsustainable standard, in certain areas. This is based on reliance on urban-generated single 
housing, which perpetuates car dependence, serves to undermine the viability and vitality of 
nearby villages and towns as places to live and leads to potential future legacy issues;

 Areas that are considered more peripheral will be characterised by an ageing population, 
leading to the challenges of living in social isolation as well as changing needs and the capacity 
of communities to meet those needs. 

 In order to move away from ‘Business As Usual’, it will be necessary for alternatives to consider the 
following: 

 The interdependence of rural and urban areas, which serve to supplement and complement 
each other, rather than compete;

 The integrity of ‘rural’ as a viable entity where communities flourish and an excellent quality of 
life is on offer;

 To build on ‘Excellence in Rural’ – i.e. sectorally across agriculture, the marine, renewables, 
tourism etc.;

 To identify and further enhance the joint initiatives and collaborative approaches that deliver 
better outcomes for people and places in rural Ireland; 

 To more sustainably manage the resource of land in rural areas – particularly where 
improvements on efficiencies of land use can be made as a means to achieving ‘better places’;

 The potential of ‘rural’ in a national context and how best to facilitate this potential through the NPF.

Page 81



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 34

 
 How can the NPF capture (in a national, strategic policy context) the range and quality of 

resources that exist in rural areas that could be leveraged to support national economic 
growth, climate action objectives and the development of local communities?

 What are the solutions to maintaining population in those rural areas where decline has 
been experienced?

 What role should towns and villages in rural areas play in catering for Ireland’s future growth?

 How can the rural parts of Ireland close to urban areas be protected from development 
pressures that are likely to arise to accommodate further population growth? 

 What measures need to be in place to allow those who have a genuine need to live in the 
countryside to be accommodated? 

4.4 Ireland in an All-Island Context

The Cross Border Relationship with Northern Ireland

4.4.1 The UK’s decision to leave the EU presents major challenges for the island of Ireland, in 
particular the potential implications for Northern Ireland and North-South relations. The 
Government and the Northern Ireland Executive have agreed, through the North South 
Ministerial Council, on arrangements to optimise North-South joint planning and engagement on 
key issues following the UK referendum result.

4.4.2 Cross border co-operation between Ireland and Northern Ireland covers a range of mutually 
important issues across a variety of sectors and governance structures, including under the 
auspices of the North South Ministerial Council. These include environmental management, 
energy, co-operation in education health and transport, enterprise development, joint investment 
decisions on infrastructure provisions and accident & emergency planning. 

4.4.3 There is a mutual recognition of the need to understand the role and function of settlements 
on the island. This is encapsulated in the publication ‘Framework for Co –operation: Spatial 
Strategies of Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland’ (2013), which seeks to examine the 
key planning challenges faced by both jurisdictions and opportunities as part of a co-operative 
approach to spatial planning. 

4.4.4 The Framework for Co-operation together with strategic plans for both jurisdictions recognise 
that place making does not always follow boundaries, whether interregional or international. This 
is evidenced by the functional relationships between settlements on both sides of the border and 
by the movement of people between places. While exacts counts are not available, it is estimated 
that up to 30,000 people cross the border on a daily basis.

4.4.5 Commuter patterns indicate ‘hotspots’ (high levels of interaction at a number of cross border 
routes) between Derry/Londonderry and Donegal and between Newry and Dundalk (located 
on the Dublin-Belfast axis). Other noteworthy interactions include Cavan/Enniskillen, Lifford/
Strabane and Monaghan/Armagh. These travel patterns suggest that a number of settlements 
on each side of the border have functional relationships with urban centres in the adjoining 
jurisdiction. The NPF provides an opportunity to establish a policy framework that supports 
joined-up approaches and the mechanisms to deliver co-ordinated growth in the border region.

4.4.6 Successful cross border approaches that provide a pathway for more effective performance at 
a spatial level include the North West Strategic Growth Partnership, which seeks to deepen 
co-operation between Donegal County and Derry/Londonderry & Strabane District Councils and 
with central government. This is a place-based approach to accelerate sustainable growth, driven 
by local leadership and supported and guided by central policy. A key output is to enhance the 
performance of the North-West metropolitan area which is key to both the NI Executive’s and 
Irish Government’s ambitions to realise the economic potential of the region.

Page 82



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 35

4.4.7 Other regional and local leadership initiatives include the Regional Strategic Framework for the 
Central Border Region and the Strategic Alliance (MoU) between Newry and Mourne District 
Council and Louth Local Authorities to support and promote the economic development and 
competitiveness of the region. 

Leveraging Economic Efficiencies 

4.4.8 The UK is Ireland’s largest trading partner, accounting for 17% of trade and cross border trade 
is an important aspect of this trading relationship, especially for Northern Ireland, with 33% of 
exports from Northern Ireland going to the South and 27% of imports coming from the South. The 
value of North South cross border trade in goods and services has been estimated by Intertrade 
Ireland at approximately 6 billion euro in 2014.

  Figure 4.4.1 

 Cross Border Employment Commuting Flows 

 ROI Car Trips crossing border to NI (AM Peak) 

Source: Transport Infrastructure Ireland

NI Car Trips crossing border to ROI (AM Peak) 

Source: Transport Infrastructure Ireland

Page 83



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 36

4.4.9 As with interaction between places, sectoral development and clustering of enterprise does not 
follow administrative boundaries and requires a coherent approach to cross-border networks and 
spill-overs where relevant. There are opportunities to identify sectors with scope for potential 
for cross-border/all-island clustering, such as pharmaceuticals, medical devices and software 
development, to effectively brand and market such strengths. The Dublin-Belfast (Eastern 
Seaboard) Economic Corridor is one such cross-border ‘branded’ region.

4.4.10 Tourism also represents an important source for economic development, both in terms of 
attracting visitors (overseas and domestic) and providing job opportunities. Since 2008, the 
annual number of visitors travelling to Ireland from Northern Ireland has almost trebled to 1.7 
million, while the numbers going north have remained at around 400,000 per annum. 

4.4.11 Tourism figures indicate a high degree of interdependence between tourist offerings on both 
side of the border, with Irish airports and ports having a key role in this. This is demonstrated by 
the fact that 67 per cent of visitors to Northern Ireland from outside the UK or Ireland arrive via 
Ireland. 

Connecting Places through Infrastructure

4.4.12 The importance of a co-ordinated approach to national infrastructure on both sides of the border 
is evident. In the past for example, investment in safety enhancements at the City of Derry Airport 
were jointly funded by both administrations. More recently, the Irish Government reaffirmed its 
commitment to contribute to the upgrade of the A5 Dublin-Derry/Londonderry road in Northern 
Ireland, which also serves North Donegal and the north-west. Cross border transport links 
include other roads, the Dublin –Belfast railway line and proposed ‘greenway’ walking/cycling 
routes, such as along the Ulster Canal.

4.4.13 Co-ordination with Northern Ireland on energy matters is now embedded in Irish energy policy, 
supported by an all-island Single Electricity Market (SEM). This gives rise to joint planning to 
meet future capacity and the interventions needed to achieve this, including electricity grid 
connections and interconnectors. 

4.4.14 Issues common to both jurisdictions include increasing energy demands, ongoing need to 
upgrade transport networks and a requirement for fast and effective broadband, especially 
for business users. It is therefore important that where relevant, infrastructure interventions 
strategically complement both the NPF and Northern Ireland Regional Development Strategy to 
help realise the key drivers common to both. This will require regional and local leadership. 

A Shared Environment 

4.4.15 There are many shared environmental interests across the border between Ireland and Northern 
Ireland where co-ordination is required. In some cases, there is a statutory obligation e.g. the EU 
Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive regarding trans-boundary consultation in relation 
to spatial and land use plans. In other cases, geographic catchment-based strategies require 
stewardship by both jurisdictions e.g. in the areas of water quality, river basin management, flood 
risk, maritime spatial planning and designated habitats and sites. A number of jointly funded 
North South bodies have roles and responsibilities in these areas.

4.4.16 There are also other national commitments to reflect the transboundary nature of the 
environment and its stewardship. These include actions to develop a National Landscape 
Character Assessment in Ireland, which acknowledge the need to work on a trans-boundary 
basis and complement Northern Ireland’s Landscape Charter.

Page 84



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 37

 

 To be successful, policy responses to Brexit, including the NPF and our approach to 
infrastructure development, must reflect a volatile and changing external environment at global 
and EU level, as well as the more direct implications on the island of Ireland. The nature and 
terms of Brexit will be critical to determining both economic impacts and macro-economic and 
sectoral policy responses, such as the NPF. As the UK negotiation position becomes clearer, 
sectoral analyses will be revisited with the aim of honing policy responses. At this stage, 
however, it is clear that, in addition to the enterprise and retail sectors, the projected impacts of 
Brexit will be most significant in agri-food and fisheries, the transport and energy sectors and the 
Border economy.

 The NPF must adapt to and reflect these underlying circumstances. The following issues, in 
particular, may need to be considered:-

 The strategic potential of the Dublin-Belfast (eastern seaboard) corridor and how it can be 
developed to better influence planning decisions between the two Capital cities on the island of 
Ireland;

 The need to look beyond administrative boundaries for effective development of regions by 
working together through structures such as the North West Gateway Initiative and the North 
West Strategic Growth Partnership in partnership with local government (Donegal-Derry/
Londonderry & Strabane);

 Greater alignment of infrastructure planning which underpins the objectives of both the NPF 
and Regional Development Strategy in Northern Ireland to address mutual cross border spatial 
challenges;

 The potential for cross-border or all-island clustering of economic activity and how best the 
NPF can help build the long term economic resilience of areas along our borders;

 Joint thinking and management approaches to environmental management and protection.

 
 How can the NPF facilitate co-ordination between settlements that share connections 

across the border between Northern Ireland and Ireland and how should this be reflected 
in the document?

 What economic opportunities and sectoral clusters exist that can benefit economies within 
both jurisdictions and how can this be best captured and supported in the NPF? 

 What mechanisms are needed to ensure a joined-up approach to strategic infrastructure 
and investment decisions that have a cross-border dimension and are there examples of 
best practice? 

 In terms of delivering cross-border infrastructure as detailed for example in the IBEC-CBI 
NI All Island Investment Project9, what structures need to be developed to leverage joint 
financing, including through the private sector? 

 How do we co-ordinate mutually beneficial ways to address common environmental 
challenges across shared catchments?

9 Ibec-CBI(NI_ Joint Business Council: Connected – All Island Investment Project, July 2016 
https://www.ibec.ie/IBEC/Press/PressPublicationsdoclib3.nsf/vPages/Newsroom~ibec-cbi-set-out-ambitious-
plan-for-all-island-economy-24-07-2016/$file/Ibec+CBI+all-island+report+WEB.pdf

Page 85



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 38

4.5 Integrated Land and Marine Development

Ireland’s Islands and the Marine – Influential Combinations

4.5.1 Ireland’s position as an island nation on the western periphery of Europe has shaped not only the 
nation’s landscape but has had a significant bearing on the history of the country, the settlement 
patterns that exist, our unique culture and heritage as well as influencing our society and 
economy. 

4.5.2 Ireland has a vast and diverse marine resource – our seabed territory covers approximately 
880,000km2, more than ten times our landmass. Our coastline of 3,171km is longer than that of 
many European countries. 

Figure 4.5.1 

Designated Irish Continental Shelf Maritime Boundary
 

  Source: Ireland’s Marine Atlas atlas.marine.ie

4.5.3 Our islands and coastal areas contain some of our most vibrant and culturally distinctive 
communities. They are an integral part of the state’s heritage and have a special significance 
in Irish culture. Whilst there are many hundreds of small islands off the coast of Ireland, 
approximately forty, mainly Gaeltacht islands, support settled populations. The majority of the 
Gaeltacht islands lie off the western seaboard of Counties Donegal, Mayo, Galway, Kerry and 
Cork.

Page 86



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 39

4.5.4 These communities are distinctive and unique in an Irish context, due to the fragility and isolation 
of island life. As a result of their location, they become adept at self-reliance and have a very 
strong sense of identity. Fishing has been a core economic activity within the island communities 
of Ireland for generations. Ireland’s coastline, inshore and offshore waters:

 Contain some of the largest and most valuable fisheries resource in Europe;

 Are the western gateway for shipping to Europe’s busiest seaports;

 Are an ideal location for finfish, shellfish and seaweed aquaculture;

 Are among the richest and most accessible renewable energy (wind, wave and tidal) 
resources in the world;

 Contain significant oil and gas resource potential as evidenced by recent discoveries and 
ongoing research;

 Provide opportunities to develop new products and services;

 Offer tourism and leisure opportunities and a rich maritime culture and heritage;

 Support a rich and diverse range of ecosystems, habitats and species and unique land and 
seascapes.

Marine Spatial Planning

4.5.5 There is no widely accepted definition for land-sea interactions. The concept may be thought of in 
terms of human activities and uses both on land and in marine waters, and how they interact in 
ways that generate economic, social and environmental impacts. 

4.5.6 In considering how terrestrial and maritime planning processes might interact and integrate 
it may also be useful to consider thematic areas of common interest to both processes, and in 
respect of which there may be overlap, either spatially or in terms of the economic, social and 
environmental impacts they generate. Such areas include but are not limited to:-

 Coastal protection;

 Flood risk management;

 Water quality;

 Landscape / seascape;

 Cultural heritage;

 Biodiversity;

 Nature conservation;

 Energy infrastructure;

 Communications infrastructure;

 Ports/shipping/harbours/marinas/dredging;

 Tourism/Recreation/Leisure.

4.5.7 Maritime Spatial Planning (MSP) examines how we use the marine area and planning how best 
to use it into the future.  Ireland must have a Maritime Spatial Plan in place by March 2021 in 
accordance with EU Directive 2014/89/EU. MSP will seek to balance the different demands for 
using the sea including the need to protect the marine environment.   It’s about planning when 
and where human activities take place at sea and ensuring these activities are as efficient and 
sustainable as possible.

Page 87



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 40

4.5.8 Working together with the National Planning Framework, Ireland’s first Marine Spatial Plan will 
provide the strategic policy framework to encourage sustainable development and use of the 
marine environment to deliver economic and social benefits for island and coastal communities.

Ireland’s Marine Economy

4.5.9 ‘Harnessing Our Ocean Wealth’ – An Integrated Marine Plan for Ireland, published in 2012, is 
a cross Governmental Integrated Marine/Blue Growth policy initiative. The central aim of the 
policy is to significantly develop Ireland’s Blue economy, grow employment in the maritime sector 
and double its contribution to Ireland’s GDP by 2030. The plan sets out 39 Actions across eight 
enablers aimed at creating the conditions for growth and investment. New approaches across a 
range of thematic areas were identified to be implemented, including the following:

 ‘Marinising’ existing enterprise sectors such as energy, ICT and food - extending 
their businesses into a range of new marine-related markets (ICT for the Sea, marine 
biotechnology and maritime commerce);

 Strengthening established marine industries; and 

 Developing untapped natural resources or existing resources in new ways.

4.5.10 The marine economy in Ireland may be sub-categorised in terms of Ocean or Coastal markets:

 Ocean 

 Seafood: sea fisheries, aquaculture, seafood processing, marine biotechnology and bio 
products;

 Energy: oil and gas exploration and production; marine renewable energy: offshore wind, 
wave and tidal;

 Marine Tourism: sea-based and coastal tourism e.g. sailing, surfing, diving, sea angling etc., 
international cruise industry. 

 Coastal

 Maritime Transport, Shipbuilding and Services (MTSS): marine commerce and ship leasing, 
ports, shipping and maritime transport. 

 Marine supported activities: marine manufacturing, engineering and construction, and 
marine retail services. 

 Emerging/nascent activity: maritime commerce, high-tech marine products and services, 
ocean energy and marine biotechnology. 

4.5.11 Seizing new opportunities in the marine sector such as those in the learning economy and 
the energy sector will help to deliver sustainable economic growth, attracting and retaining 
population and supporting services. This is particularly relevant to coastal communities. In terms 
of skills, the industry in Ireland requires technicians and general operatives as well as high-
skilled technical staff and professions. 

4.5.12 The sub-sectors with the greatest demand for skills are seafood, MTSS (Maritime Transport 
and Shipbuilding and services), and marine tourism. Core skills and knowledge relating to 
many occupations (e.g. accountancy, engineering, electricians) can be ‘marinised’ by acquiring 
additional training, or a top up qualification, that allows for their particular application in a 
marine context. 

4.5.13 Positive trends have been reported across a number of key sectors such as seafood exports, 
shipping and tourism in marine and coastal areas. The total volume of traffic moving through 
Irish ports recorded a 7 percent increase in 2015, the highest level recorded since the beginning 
of the economic crisis.

4.5.14 The National Ports Policy that resulted in tiering Ireland’s ports means that transport 
infrastructure has and is developing well in Ireland’s three ‘Tier 1’ ports. Dublin, Cork and 
Shannon Foynes development plans, with related road and rail infrastructure upgrades, provide 
evidence of the progress being made.

Page 88



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 41

 

 Related to the success or otherwise of the marine and island economies are Ireland’s coastal 
communities, often located on the periphery of the island. These communities are central to the 
life and vibrancy of marine and island activity. As the more traditional elements of the sector 
depend on the skills of people located in these areas, a ‘Business as Usual’ scenario would 
see population decline in more remote rural areas of Ireland, including coastal and island 
communities. 

 Similar to other traditional skilled sectors, technological advances over recent decades have 
led to the Marine sector having to respond to a changing working world. In addition to Ireland’s 
membership of the European Union, these advances have had implications for marine based 
employment. 

 The inter-relationship between land and sea will need to be enhanced in order to allow Ireland 
to excel and become world leaders in the Marine. In order to enhance this interaction, it will be 
necessary for alternatives to consider the following: 

 Maximising the national opportunities for excellence in the Marine including infrastructure, 
energy, conservation and data technology;

 Future proofing the structures that govern the Marine Sector to strengthen capacity;

 Integrated management of marine assets;

 The role of marine environmental quality in the economy of Ireland and whether land based 
activities are complementing or compromising our surrounding waters.

 In thinking about what Ireland might look like in twenty years’ time, what is the future for 
Ireland’s coastline, islands and offshore?

 How can coastal and island communities contribute to a national vision for Ireland, as part of 
the NPF? 

 How can the goals of the integrated Marine Plan be spatially represented in a National 
Planning Framework?

 What, policies, measures or actions need to be advanced to enable Ireland’s marine 
resource to adapt to the effects of climate change (e.g. coastal erosion, flooding, sea level 
rise etc.)?

 What infrastructure investments need to be made in order to maximise the sustainable 
potential of our ocean resource?

Page 89



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 42

5.1 Development and Land Use Change 

5.1.1 Ireland’s environment and its diverse landscapes form part of our green persona and we have 
much to be proud of. In particular, we generally have good air quality and we have many rivers 
and lakes with good quality water. The national effort regarding waste recycling and recovery are 
also testament to our ability to adapt to environmental concerns.

5.1.2 While the overall quality of our environment is good, this masks some of the threats we now face. 
A recent assessment of Ireland’s environment by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
indicates that the choices we make will have implications for future generations. Some of the 
key national environmental challenges include the need to accelerate action on climate change 
and renewable energy, dealing with air quality problems in urban areas, health risks to drinking 
water, treating urban waste water and protecting important and vulnerable habitats. 

5.1.3 Good planning is important for the sustainability of our environment. The planning system has 
influence across a wide range of sectors, both directly and indirectly, and interacts with many 
common issues related to effective environmental management including water services, 
landscape, flood risk planning, coastal and marine management, climate mitigation and 
adaptation and land use change.

5.1.4 A key policy instrument to ensure that plans, policies and projects are better aligned is the use 
of Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) at a strategic plan making level. A separate SEA 
‘scoping’ document examines this issue in more detail alongside Appropriate Assessment in 
relation to protected habitats and Strategic Flood Risk Appraisal and is available to be read in 
conjunction with this discussion paper. 

5.1.5 Land is a finite resource. In the relationship between land and people in Ireland, complex issues 
and varying interests have often embodied the interface between person and place. Management 
and stewardship of land as a resource can be a source of conflict, particularly where individuals 
or communities feel threatened by land use change.

5.1.6 The nature and rate of land use change indicates where future environmental pressures are 
likely to arise. Ireland has experienced a relatively high rate of land use change since the early 
1990s. Recent population growth has led to an increase in the extent of dispersed residential 
and commercial development as well as new infrastructure, which have resulted in pressure on 
agricultural land, designated nature conservation areas and water quality. Meeting the increased 
infrastructure demands will require secure supplies of raw materials which may contribute to 
land use pressures.

Ireland’s Unique 
Environment – 
Sustainability 5

Page 90



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 43

5.1.7 Unsustainable land use change can affect human health and have a harmful effect on water, 
air, soils and/or biodiversity, especially when combined with poorly managed responses to 
development. For example, it is estimated by the EPA that approximately 30% of 17,000 private 
wells in Ireland are contaminated by E.coli.

5.1.8 From an urban development perspective, the proper treatment and disposal of waste water is a 
key challenge to the sustainable growth of our larger urban centres. The negative impacts arising 
from the discharge of untreated wastewater on the receiving environment and on our public 
health is a particular concern for the EPA. This arises in relation to more than 40 locations across 
the country, including our two largest cities. 

5.1.9 In relation to air quality, our cities and large towns are increasingly experiencing air quality 
problems, largely due to emissions from vehicle exhausts and home heating. A recent European 
Environment Agency (EEA) report indicates that 1,200 premature deaths in Europe every year can 
be attributed to particulate matter exposure (which mainly arises from traffic emissions and the 
burning of smoky fuels for home heating). 

5.1.10 Meeting the challenges for improving air and water quality will require policy co-ordination and 
a range of measures including but not limited to emission controls, improved technology and 
alternative fuel sources. Planning policy has a key role to play. More integrated land use and 
transport planning, green space provision and high quality urban place-making will complement 
other solutions to the improvement of air quality in our urban areas.

5.2 Climate Action

5.2.1 Ireland is committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions and in this context has obligations at 
international level via the Paris Agreement and at EU level under the EU Effort Sharing Decision 
(Decision no. 406/2009/EU) (ESD). National policy and obligations is set out in the National Policy 
Position on Climate Action and Low Carbon Development (2014) and the Climate Action and Low 
Carbon Development Act 2015. 

5.2.2 In relation to greenhouse gas emissions reduction, Ireland has a target for each year between 
2013 and 2020 under the ESD. For the year 2020, the target set is that emissions should be 20% 
below their value in 2005.

5.2.3 The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has reported that emissions for 2015 are estimated 
at 59.84 million tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent, which is 3.7% higher than emissions in 2014. 
While according to the EPA, these figures indicate that Ireland will be in compliance with its 2015 
annual limit set under the ESD, it has cautioned that the 2015 emissions data suggests that 
achievement of our long-term mitigation goals will be difficult. In this context, the most recent 
EPA projections (March 2016) indicate that emissions for 2020 could be in the range of 6-11% 
below 2005 levels, rather than the -20% target.

5.2.4 In terms of putting in place the first of a series of plans to manage our transition to a low 
carbon economy and to meet our international and EU targets, a national mitigation plan will be 
submitted to Government for approval not later than 10 June 2017 in accordance with the Climate 
Action and Low Carbon Development Act 2015. This will include sectoral mitigation measures.

5.2.5 The National Climate Change Adaptation Framework (published in 2012) recognised the critical 
importance of planning and development measures in the overall strategic approach to tackling 
climate change adaptation, including reducing risk and building resilience. The key role of spatial 
planning will be restated and renewed in the statutory National Adaptation Framework which is 
being developed under the Climate Action and Low Carbon Development Act 2015 and will be the 
subject of a separate public consultation.

5.2.6 If Ireland is to make up for lost ground in relation to carbon reduction targets and move towards 
the objective of a low carbon and climate resilient Ireland by 2050, it is necessary to make choices 
about how we plan for future growth. A key role for the National Planning Framework will be to 
assist in reinforcing the structural changes required to transition to a low carbon sustainable 
economy and society. This will require us to make decisions about how we balance growth with 
more sustainable approaches to development and to examine how planning policy can help shape 
national infrastructural decisions.

Page 91



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 44

5.2.7 The transport sector, which comprises approximately one fifth of carbon emissions in Ireland, 
has been the fastest growing source of emissions since 1990, showing a 120% increase 
between 1990 and 2014. This can be linked to rising car ownership, dispersed land use and car 
dependency, with a 140% increase in the numbers commuting to work between 1991 and 2011. 

5.2.8 If we are to reduce emissions from sectors such as transport, it will be necessary to address 
the growing divergence between where people live, work and socialise and in doing so, to also 
recognise the importance of high quality place-making to assist the national effort towards a low 
carbon and climate resilient Ireland. It is relevant to consider, for example, the extent to which 
greenfield lands are considered to be the principal option to accommodate all forms of new 
development, given the increasing distances that people are travelling between home and work.

5.3 Re-Energising Ireland

5.3.1 Sustainability, energy security and competitiveness are inter-related challenges. In recognition 
of this, Ireland’s Energy White Paper entitled ‘Irelands Transition to a Low Carbon Energy Future 
2015-2030’ sets out a framework for energy policy which recognises that a radical transformation 
of our energy system is required to meet our national, EU and international climate objectives to 
be pursued through successive National Mitigation Plans.

5.3.2 Energy infrastructure, including electricity grid infrastructure, electricity generation and gas 
networks, is critical to support Ireland’s future growth. Approximately 60% of our greenhouse gas 
emissions derive from energy related uses in the residential, transport, energy, industrial and 
commercial sectors, which remain primarily dependent on fossil fuels.

5.3.3 Energy cost is a critical factor for competitiveness. This is important to attract overseas 
investment and ensure affordable service provision to our people and businesses. Ireland’s 
dispersed settlement pattern poses a significant challenge to costs. The extent of our electricity 
network is over 35 metres of electricity grid per capita, which is high in comparison to other EU 
countries.

5.3.4 If we are to reduce our national reliance on fossil fuels, increase our long term energy security 
and decouple economic growth from emissions, our future energy needs will need to be delivered 
in a more sustainable way whilst also providing retrofit solutions to existing development. 
Alternative energy sources are also required. Renewable energies provide part of this solution 
and are aligned with national policy regarding climate change and climate action.

5.3.5 The renewables sector will continue to become more and more central to meeting our national 
energy demands. This raises the issue of how we prioritise renewable energy projects at suitable 
locations across Ireland, balanced with the need to sustain the existing environment and amenity. 
In particular, some areas of the country are better suited to the generation of renewable energy 
and differing types of renewable energy infrastructure. 

5.3.6 There is a need for a co-ordinated approach as to how these projects are delivered if we are to 
achieve a low carbon economy and carbon neutrality in various sectors. This raises questions 
about the type, scale and location of renewable infrastructure such as wind and solar renewables 
and on-shore and off-shore locations to meet renewable targets. 

5.3.7 At a national level, it may be an option to create Strategic Energy Zones or Corridors, similar to 
Strategic Development Zones, as areas of national priority for renewable energy investment, as 
well as to provide a test bed for new technologies and developing solutions for carbon storage 
and capture. 

5.3.8 At a regional level, Regional Economic and Spatial Strategies will have a role in this area through 
regional approaches to renewables such as wind farms, solar farms and district heating provision 
and coordination across local administrative boundaries. This may also address the overlapping 
policy area of landscape and landscape characterisation.

Page 92



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 45

5.4 Heritage and Landscape 

5.4.1 Ireland has a rich vein of heritage ranging from the iconic historic buildings and sites within 
our towns and cities, to the natural heritage of our countryside. The NPF is an opportunity to 
refocus on the sustainable and adaptive reuse of our existing and historic assets, regenerate 
existing areas and reduce pressure for unsustainable expansion on the edges of our settlements. 
There is also recognition of the value of our natural heritage not only for biodiversity but also for 
recreation, tourism and scientific purposes.

5.4.2 Ireland’s landscape offers a wealth of natural and cultural assets which support our quality of 
life and our visitor economy. We have a duty to future generations to use these assets responsibly 
whilst making our existing infrastructure work harder to deliver more benefits. This must be 
related to societal values that include social cohesion and a sense of cultural heritage. It will also 
enable us to balance our strong relationship with the land with environmental protection. 

5.4.3 The protection, management and planning of the landscape is interconnected with biodiversity 
and climate change, as recognised in the National Landscape Strategy (NLS) for Ireland 2015-
2025. The ambitions of the NLS cut across a number of sectoral interests and policy areas 
including the NPF. This requires a balance between competing ambitions and the need to look at 
how policy integration can be implemented in order to underpin effective spatial planning.

5.4.4 Failure to protect our landscapes, seascapes and our cultural heritage will damage the 
attractiveness of Ireland as a place to live, visit and work. The NPF can help shape future 
economic development through setting an appropriate balance between ensuring the resilience 
of our natural resources and cultural assets, meeting climate and energy obligations and 
providing for sustainable economic development.

5.5 Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity 

5.5.1 Green infrastructure (GI) is where natural and/or managed landscape features such as a 
watercourse and/or parkland is managed and enhanced as a multifunctional resource capable 
of delivering a wide range of economic, environmental and quality of life benefits, known as 
‘ecosystem services’. 

5.5.2 These benefits can include creating an attractive environment to encourage businesses and 
inward investment; more places for people to access nature, outdoor recreation or social 
interaction or physical activity by providing quality, linked green or ‘blue’ (water-related) 
spaces for walking, cycling and other physical activity and creating a sense of place and local 
distinctiveness. They also generally include a holistic approach to developing the landscape 
inclusive of other influences, such as ecological development, improving air, water and soil 
quality and flood protection.

5.5.3 Ireland has a wide diversity of natural and semi-natural habitats such as mountains, bogs, 
wetlands, lakes, coastline, river and upland habitats that support a wide range of wild plant and 
animal species. Many of these areas are coming under increasing pressure as development 
intensifies. 

5.5.4 The main issues that Ireland’s habitats and species face are direct habitat damage. This can 
be caused by flooding, wetland drainage/reclamation or infrastructural development, water 
pollution particularly from nutrients and silt or unsustainable exploitation such as over-fishing 
and peat extraction. There are also threats from invasive species and recreational pressures. 
Climate change is also likely to give rise to additional pressures on a number of species and 
habitats in Ireland.

Page 93



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 46

 

 

 The ‘business as usual’ model is a continuation of current patterns and approaches to 
environmental management and competing demands. Consequently, this approach is likely to 
result in: 

 A continuation of existing growth patterns, putting increased pressures on the receiving 
environment and threatening public health; 

 Continued threat to and decline in the status of habitats and species in Ireland;

 Failure to reach international climate and energy commitments to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and meet legally binding renewable energy targets and the potential financial costs 
for the Exchequer if ‘Carbon Credits’ (greenhouse gas emissions) and/or ‘statistical transfers’ 
(renewable energy) have to be purchased in order to comply with the targets set, notwithstanding 
improvements in technology;

 Continued relationships of spatial dispersal resulting in to higher costs for energy services;

 Ongoing public dissatisfaction, costs and delays in relation to the delivery of renewable energy 
projects.

 It is considered that any alternatives need to consider the following:

 Avoiding environmental harm through better planning that is co-ordinated with related 
investment;

 Less dispersed development that can contribute to more affordable energy costs and make it 
easier to provide infrastructure on a national scale to more people;

 Making the changes required to transition to a low carbon and climate resilient society and 
providing greater certainty regarding the type, scale and location of renewable infrastructure 
across Ireland;

 Developing a tool kit of options to ensure greater environmental coherence when planning 
for future growth such as inclusion of green infrastructure planning and coherent landscape 
classification as part of mainstream plan making. 

 

 How can the NPF help to ensure we get a sustainable balance between catering for a 
growing population and avoiding or addressing environmental pressures? 

 How do we plan for growth in such a way that supports a transition to a low carbon and 
climate resilient economy and what planning policy measures are needed to achieve this?

 ‘What strategic energy infrastructure is needed to support the economy and society and 
realise the transformation of Ireland’s energy system to meet climate change and energy 
obligations and in what areas should it be located?

 Are there any other national environmental issues that you think should be included within 
the NPF and that are within the remit of planning policy?

 An SEA scoping document has been developed in tandem with this paper. What are 
the relevant significant issues to be addressed by the SEA, AA and SFRA and what 
environmental objectives should be used?

 What measures should be implemented in order to safeguard our landscapes, seascapes 
and heritage and ensure that Ireland continues to be an attractive place to live, visit and 
work?

Page 94



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 47

6.1 Setting the Bar 

6.1.1 High-quality infrastructure is an important element of a modern society and economy. It 
strengthens economic growth through enhancing efficiency, productivity and competitiveness. It 
also underpins social cohesion through providing vital facilities for people in the form of schools, 
public transport, healthcare and housing.

6.1.2 The EU Commission Country Report on Ireland published in 2016 identified that in 2010-
2013, capital spending averaged 4.8 % of total expenditure, which was less than half the long 
term average during 1995-2008. The Report states that several years of reduced government 
investment have had a negative impact on the quality and adequacy of infrastructure. 

6.1.3 Whilst macroeconomic decision-making regarding the availability of expenditure for capital 
investment is beyond the scope of the National Planning Framework alone, the NPF will present 
a clear picture of the planning principles that will influence future priorities for determining 
where people should live and what types of economic and social activities are best suited to 
particular regions and localities.

6.1.4 In setting out a strategy, the National Planning Framework will provide spatial clarity and 
co-ordination that will be aligned with future Capital Investment Plans. The actual choice of 
investment decisions and between specific projects as well as issues of affordability will be 
considered against the background of the NPF, with the most significant strategic projects 
nationally identified in the NPF.

6.1.5 This joined-up thinking will serve to assist in creating the conditions for new and additional 
sources of infrastructure funding and delivery. The National Roads programme is an example of 
successful implementation of an overall strategy, that set out to deliver high quality inter-urban 
motorways between Dublin and the principal centres of population.

6.1.6 It has been a particular issue that the relationship between infrastructure and land-use in 
Ireland is such that the spatial pattern of development has served to reinforce the predominant 
status quo. This is largely because infrastructural investment has followed development and 
population, in the context of constrained public expenditure and a market driven, development-
led environment.

6.1.7 The status quo has also meant a recurring mismatch between population growth and housing 
supply in recent decades. Most recently, there has been an oversupply of housing across the 
Country, followed by a housing shortage in the main population centres. This cycle characterises 
the ‘business as usual’ approach and it has been necessary to prioritise putting in place the 
Rebuilding Ireland Action Plan for Housing and Homelessness to tackle the current challenges 
and accelerate delivery of housing solutions in the short term.

6.1.8 Given that it is possible to make projections for population growth, household formation and 
anticipated housing requirements, it is timely to examine the relationships between housing 
demand, supply, location and supporting infrastructure as part of a strategic, long term national 
approach to planning for people and place. The NPF offers an opportunity to do this in order 
to achieve a better alignment between population growth and housing requirements. This will 
require a strategic view of likely housing demand and land supply at a national level to support 
coordinated investment across a number of departments and agencies. 

Equipping Ireland for 
Future Development - 
Infrastructure 

6

Page 95



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 48

6.1.9 The NPF will be relevant to strategic national infrastructure that can influence the spatial pattern 
of development and contribute to national objectives in areas such as transport, water, wastewater/
flooding, waste, climate action, broadband/ telecommunications, energy, health, education, 
community and tourism. This will include ensuring that critical infrastructure is adapted to the 
impacts of climate change and that future infrastructure investments are climate proofed as 
well as developing the potential of green infrastructure and environmental networks that provide 
ecosystem services, to complement more traditional infrastructures. 

6.1.10 The provision of social infrastructure, commensurate to the location and scale of a settlement 
or locality, is also central to supporting sustainable vibrant communities that cater for all life 
stages. This is because it is apparent that development over the past twenty years has been widely 
dispersed, mainly outside established urban areas.

6.1.11 In Ireland, primary school enrolments are projected to rise to a peak of over 574,000 in 2018, before 
beginning to reduce. This peak figure is reflective of primary enrolment levels last seen in Ireland 
in the early 1980s. Post-primary enrolments are also projected to rise until 2025, at which point 
enrolments at second level are expected to be in excess of 400,000 pupils for the first time in the 
history of the State. 

6.1.12 The numbers enrolled in higher education have also been steadily increasing in recent years 
and are expected to peak during the late 2020’s. Full time enrolments in particular have grown 
substantially, increasing by over 25% in the past 10 years alone. The highly educated nature of the 
population is such that in 2015, 52% of people in the 25-34 age cohort had secured a third level 
qualification, which is well above the EU average (42%). An ongoing need for lifelong learning 
and upskilling of the workforce will also contribute to future demand across further and higher 
education provision.

6.2 Scale and Impact

6.2.1 In some instances, the rapid growth of small settlements has resulted in development at a 
scale and pace that has challenged the capacity of services and has led to requirements for new 
infrastructure, facilities and services, whereas in others, existing services and infrastructure in 
have become underutilised or redundant, serving diminishing and ageing populations.

6.2.2 This has meant that people in Ireland are required to travel longer distances for basic services, 
as these cannot be replicated everywhere that new populations have emerged. Dispersed 
development has also served to undermine planned strategic growth areas and key regeneration 
sites in many cities and towns. 

6.2.3 In combination, this has made effective service and infrastructure planning difficult. For example, 
many planned development areas are supported by public investment in enabling infrastructure, 
including public transport, the potential benefits of which cannot be realised.

6.2.4 It is indicative that the Census-defined built up areas of the four largest cities outside Dublin 
returned an average gross density of 13 people per hectare, whereas the equivalent area in Dublin 
had 35 people per hectare (2011 figures). This has significant implications for infrastructure and 
service provision. For example, it is generally accepted that the minimum figure required for the 
provision of economically viable public transport is in excess of 30 people per hectare.

6.2.5 To ensure a strategic approach to infrastructure provision at a national scale, the NPF will provide 
the spatial background against which investment decisions can be prioritised, to collectively form 
a strategy. This will commence with the mid-term review of the current capital plan to 2021, which 
will overlap with the initial period of implementation of the NPF.

6.2.6 Activities such as online trading require communications networks to be in place to support the 
requisite quality of connectivity. The successful delivery of the National Broadband Plan will 
ultimately play a central role for the regional development, to underpin job creation, promote social 
inclusion and reduce travel needs (and consequently fossil fuel consumption).

Page 96



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 49

 

6.2.7 The long time horizon of the NPF will enable a range of strategic projects to be aligned and 
sequenced in relation to emerging spatial development and land use outcomes. Ongoing 
monitoring and review of spatial development outcomes will feed into periodic review of both the 
NPF and serve to influence future strategic infrastructure spending and sequencing.

 

 The possibility of linking spatial considerations to packaged and sequenced investment measures 
is what can differentiate the NPF as a strategy from a ‘wishlist’ of projects. Such ‘joined-up 
thinking’ will also serve to assist new and additional sources of infrastructure funding and 
delivery, but does require up-front decision making. This is in contrast to a more reactive 
approach that seeks to respond to problems as they arise or at best, to address imminent 
‘bottlenecks’.

 This reactive scenario is more representative of ‘business as usual’ in Ireland in recent years and 
it is clear that significant pressures already exist, for example in relation to the availability and 
affordability of housing, urban transport, water supply and waste water, healthcare, the cost of 
childcare and securing school places at primary and secondary level.

 To ensure best value for money and efficiency in terms of infrastructural expenditure and to 
realise the significant potential of existing embedded infrastructure, any alternatives will need 
to:-

 Identify nationally strategic infrastructural priorities;

 Promote the ‘packaging’ and sequencing of spatially related infrastructural projects on a 
phased basis to achieve optimal outcomes;

 Suggest where large-scale strategic urban extensions or new settlement types may be 
appropriate and what social infrastructure may be required;

 Identify mechanisms to capture the embedded infrastructural value that exists in many existing 
settlements and to support more attractive development at such locations;

 Enable greater policy integration and joined up investment decisions across planning, health 
and transport policy sectors, which are proven to help to make sustainable and active travel 
more attractive alternatives to the private car;

 Consider the availability of public and state lands for exemplar projects.

 

 What are the nationally important infrastructure projects for Ireland that require delivery 
over the next twenty years?

 What do we need to do to make best use of existing infrastructure?

 How can we ensure that the provision of infrastructure can be planned to match future 
demand and how can the NPF reflect this?

 How can capital spending on new infrastructure be sequenced in a way that is affordable and 
equitable, while taking account of Ireland’s Climate Change obligations?

 How do we ensure that existing and new development can be supported by the timely 
provision of social infrastructure?

Page 97



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 50

Enabling the Vision – 
Implementing the National 
Planning Framework 

7
7.1 Commitment and Structures

7.1.1 Implementing the National Planning Framework will be as important as preparing it. The NPF 
will need to be clear on how it will be implemented, who will implement it and what the key 
implementation actions are, given that the geographical and organisational boundaries of the 
organisations central to achieving the goals of the NPF rarely coincide with everyday patterns of 
living, working and travelling to access services.

7.1.2 Learning from experience with the National Spatial Strategy, legislative support, backed up by 
wider political and institutional commitment is central to ensuring that the NPF will influence 
public policy across Government, the Regional Assembly and Local Authority administrations. It 
is therefore intended that the finalisation of the National Planning Framework will be followed up 
by strong national, regional and local level implementation.

7.1.3 In line with the recommendations of the final report of the Mahon Tribunal published in 2012, it 
is intended that a statutory process for the making of the National Planning Framework and its 
implementation will be put in place under the Planning and Development (Amendment) Bill 2016.

7.1.4 Structures will be developed and put in place to ensure that the NPF and its main proposals are 
given top-level commitment, including of a budgetary and investment nature, and are therefore 
appropriately driven, including constant monitoring to measure progress and focus accordingly.

7.1.5 A national level development framework like the NPF will need to be strategic and highly 
focused in approach, meaning that it must be complemented by more detailed strategies, at a 
geographical level in terms of regional and local dimensions and at a sectoral level in terms of 
policies in relation to transport, energy, enterprise development or housing.

7.1.6 The Local Government Reform Act 2014 established three Regional Assemblies, broadly covering 
the East and Midlands, the South and North-West of the Country. Alongside the National Planning 
Framework, the Regional Assemblies will also each finalise and adopt a Regional Spatial and 
Economic Strategy (RSES) to outline in more detail how the NPF will be implemented in each 
Regional Assembly area and in the local authority areas that make up each assembly.

7.1.7 All three Regional Assembly areas include both rural and urban areas and coastal and inland 
counties and two border Northern Ireland. In the case of the East and Midlands, there is evidence 
to suggest that the area driven by or influenced by Dublin extends from southern Cavan to 
Wexford, which touches on all three Regional Assembly areas and multiple local authorities.

7.1.8 The thirty-one local authorities are critical implementers of a National Planning Framework 
because they are responsible for a broad range of local development functions, including 
economic development and planning, housing, mobility and traffic management, community 
development and environmental protection, that shape the places that will make the NPF happen 
on the ground.

Page 98



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 51

7.1.9 Looking at local authorities more closely, a recurring theme from preliminary consultation arose 
in terms of how the NPF will be implemented across local authority boundaries given that built-
up areas or ‘footprint’ of most cities and many towns will straddle local authority or even regional 
boundaries, such as Cork, Dublin, Limerick, Waterford, Athlone, Bray, Carlow and Drogheda.

7.1.10 Preparation of the NPF therefore needs to anticipate and prepare for the challenges in 
implementing the Framework, most of which stem from the fact that for a variety of reasons, 
geography, scale, historic administrative structures and more recently, EU reporting 
requirements, administrative and organisation boundaries may not always neatly coincide with 
the issues that a planning framework seeks to address.

7.2 Key Policy Considerations

7.2.1 The key implementation arrangements that are therefore identified at this point of the 
development of the NPF include the following:-

Interdepartmental Drive: Through a National Planning Framework Management Team;

Statutory Backing: Through the Planning and Development (Amendment) Bill 2016;

Administrative Structures to Respond to ‘Real-world’ Issues: 

 Preparation of Regional Spatial and Economic Strategies to co-ordinate across local 
authority and wider public policy levels in support of the NPF;

 Implementation programmes developed on a cross-local authority basis within the 
Regional Assembly structure;

 Strengthened legislative basis for local authority co-operation on planning;

 Marine and North-South/East-West dimension.

 Investment: Capital Programmes of Government Departments and relevant public bodies 
and the use of ‘bid’ based systems that incentivise cross-authority/agency working in 
qualifying for targeted funding;

 Monitoring and Policy Feedback: Establishment of independent monitoring of the NPF to 
identify and put in place key data gathering systems that will measure NPF effectiveness 
and outcomes to feed back into further implementation, review and updating in line with the 
Planning and Development (Amendment) Bill proposals. Annual reporting to Government and 
to the Oireachtas could provide a formal oversight arrangement for the NPF.

Page 99



 Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues and Choices    |    February 2017

Page 52

  Careful consideration needs to be given to the implementation and monitoring of the National 
Planning Framework, to avoid current challenges becoming our future crises. 

 The National Planning Framework must strike a balance between delivering a strategic plan for 
Ireland over the next twenty years whilst also fostering the potential of places and the ambition 
of people. Central to achieving this balance is political will and ownership at local, regional and 
national level to allow places of varying sizes to complement each other rather than to compete 
with each other. 

 Reflecting on the capacity of existing governance structures at local, regional and national level 
to drive and support a National Planning Framework will also be required to achieve better 
outcomes for people and places. 

 When it comes to implementation and monitoring of the NPF, are there common goals that 
can be identified and apply to every place?

 What barriers exist to implementation?

 How best can sustainable planning outcomes be recognised and rewarded? 

 What levers are needed to deliver greater efficiencies in administration and governance, 
when it comes to implementing and monitoring the NPF?

 What the key indicators for measuring the successful implementation of the NPF?

 

Page 100



 

Poolbeg West SDZ 

Draft Planning Scheme 

P
age 101



• Introduction/vision 

• Housing 

• Community 

• Economy/Employment 

• Movement/transport 

• Infrastructure 

• green infrastructure /open space 

• Land-use and phasing 

• Public Realm 

• Urban structure/design 

• Implementation/monitoring 

• ….Next stages 

 

 

P
age 102



Lands deemed to be of economic and social importance to the state. The designated area in the Order is 
for a mixed use development which principally include residential development. 
 
Vision ; Connect with the city fabric, Create a sustainable new urban quarter, Protect Dublin Bay, essential 
port functions  and residential amenity. 
 
  
Lands to the south of South Bank Road to be developed at an approximate ratio of    80% residential 

(c3,000 additional Residential Units), and 20% commercial providing employment for up to 8,000 Workers.  

The Government designated Poolbeg 
West a Strategic Development Zone (SDZ) 

On 17th May 2016   
Poolbeg West comprises some 34 Ha of 

the 520 Ha Dublin Docklands area. 

Introduction & Vision 

P
age 103



 
 
CONCEPT  
PLAN  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
• CONNECT with the physical, environmental, economic and social fabric of the city, the bay and adjoining 

neighbourhoods. 
• CREATE a new sustainable urban neighbourhood that responds to the areas unique location and enhances 

the enjoyment of local amenities. 
• PROTECT the special status of Dublin Bay, the intrinsic functions of the port/municipal facilities and the 

amenity of existing and future residents 

P
age 104



Residential/Housing 
Context ; Current Development  Plan and housing strategy ; 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Socially balanced community, mixed tenure 
 
Diversity/mix sought; Older people, starter homes, those with disabilities, limited student housing, 
build to rent model. 
 
Sustainable and adaptable homes. Energy efficient and use of renewables. 
Dublin City Council to work with approved voluntary and co-operative housing bodies 
 

.  

 

P
age 105



 

• High quality design for buildings and open spaces 

• Mix of unit types sought in each of 4 large urban blocks. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Upto  4 Build To Rent  schemes (max 150 in each)  

 allowable. Special criteria apply where high proportions  

 of studios sought. 

 

• Compliance with Dev Plan standards regarding dimensions/aspect etc 

Village green 

P
age 106



Community  Development  

P
age 107



• To create a sustainable community in the SDZ.  
 
• To require the provision of social, cultural, creative and artistic  
purposes in the  SDZ to contribute to the 5% allocation of such  
spaces in the docklands area. 
 
• Pursue a cohesive, integrated and socially inclusive approach to  
  community facilities which will help re-connect people with their  
  neighbourhoods and the wider community. 
 
• New schools included. 
 
• Promote the location as a family friendly neighbourhood and to ensure access to childcare facilities 
 

P
age 108



Economy & Employment 

 

• Commercial uses ; two main elements  

 (i) neighbourhood district level retailing (having  

 regard to the Retail Strategy of the City Develop-  

 ment Plan) and  

 (ii) office and enterprise/start up uses. 

 

• commercial area will serve the new population of 

  the SDZ- both workers and residents, as well as  

 providing additional services to the area to the  

 benefit of the wider docklands community. 

 

• The commercial area can deliver on a range of  

 requirements: 

 

 - can buffer the residential area from the port and utility uses to the north. 

 - provide a retail and commercial core with local services and new employment  

 - retail addressing the street  -village green 

 

• The retail area to accommodate 1-2 supermarkets and supporting retail - up to a maximum of 5,000 sq.m. Also small 
scale retailing at the junction of Sean Moore Road and the Central Boulevard 

 

 

 

P
age 109



 

• Range of office typologies for key growth sectors from start-up onwards. This will be achieved by 
promoting flexible floorspace provision and to allow for a range of office accommodation types. 

 

• The quantum of office proposed is in the range 80,000 -100,000 sq.m (based on an 80/20 split). 

 

• Dublin Port -significant role to play.  Planning Scheme recognises the importance of retaining  essential 
port uses and port related activities. 

 

• DCC will facilitate agencies and organisations, particularly those engaged in employment and training 
initiatives in Poolbeg, to work together with a view to maximising employment, volunteer and training 
opportunities for residents of Poolbeg and the surrounding area.  

 

• DCC will also liaise with agencies and organisations working in  

 the Poolbeg/Ringsend area to maximise educational opportunities,  

 and support access to employment for residents of Poolbeg and  

 the surroundings.  

 

 
 

P
age 110



Movement/Transport 
 

P
age 111



• Public transport ; Enhanced bus services including new core bus link to city centre 
via a new Dodder Bridge . 

 

• Longer term ; Luas to Poolbeg as Red line  

 extension (National Transport Authority strategy) 

 

• Protect route of Southern Port Access Route and 

 Eastern Bypass in accordance with national strategy.  

 Interim ; improved road arrangement north of Sean 

 Moore Roundabout. 

 

• Upgrading of roads and junctions on Sean Moore Road. 

  Improved crossing points. 

 

• Much improved cycle network (see graphic) 

 

• Travel plans needed for large developments to minimise demonstrate design for 
sustainable travel. 

 

 

 

P
age 112



 

P
age 113



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 
- Using flood risk assessment techniques and the identification and management of these risks lying in place 

through flood resilient urban and building design and construction 

- Promotion of the area as an exemplar of environmental sustainable design and building solutions with regard to 
energy efficiency, CCHP Systems and Sustainable Urban Drainage schemes. 

 

 

Infrastructure & Utilities 

P
age 114



Infrastructure & Utilities 

 

Objectives  (summary) 

 

• Provision of ducting for information communication technology within developments. 

 

• Maintain good air quality in accordance with national and EU policy directives on air quality 

 

• Minimise the adverse impacts of noise (Dublin  

 Agglomerations Noise Action Plan) 

 

• Large developments to be district heating-enabled 

 

 

• All sites to be remediated to internationally accepted standards, to include innovative 
ecological restoration techniques that create aesthetically improved sites, healthy 
environments and contribute to the provision of new green open spaces as integral parts of 
newly created areas.  

 

 

P
age 115



To Create a green network of 

spaces through the SDZ and 

wider area.  

Environment, Green Infrastructure & Open Space 

P
age 116



 
Objectives ; 
 
• To provide for three new Public parks (i) Coastal Park (ii) 
Village Green and (iii) Port park. 
 

•To Create a green network of spaces through the SDZ and 
wider area.  
 
•To manage rainfall run-off, prevent pollution, and provide an 
attractive environment for people and wildlife. 
 
•To  achieve favourable conservation status for the habitats in 
these areas. 
 

P
age 117



Land Uses & Phasing 
Ratio of 80% residential to 20% 

commercial on lands to south 

of south bank road. 

 

P
age 118



Phasing is based on two different areas  ; A and B.  
 
A = residential/mixed use and commercial lands. 
B = Port-owned lands (Industrial/port and commercial uses) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key requirements are set out for each of 2 phases within each area.  
 

 

 

P
age 119



 

Public Realm 

 

P
age 120



 

 

 

 

The 4 main themes for the design  

of the public realm; 
 

 

•Place-making 

 

•Environmental protection and  

enhancement 

 

•Connectivity & Movement 

 

•High Quality palette of materials  

and street furniture 
 

 

 

 
     

Coastal Park 

 Sean Moore Road P
age 121



Movement proposals and Land Use 
 

• Integration with key public 

transport proposals.  
 

o Luas extension ( longer term) 

 

o Extension of bus services.    

 

• ‘Green Links’ follow major desire 

lines 

 
o Central Boulevard and Coastal Link  

- strong visual connections. 

 

o Village Green creates views 

between Neighbourhood Square 

and Sean Moore Park 

 

• Walkable and cyclable streets 

(traffic calmed) in a highly 

connected grid like network. 

 

• New/upgraded junctions (and 

crossing points) along Sean 

Moore Road. 

 

 

Central Boulevard  Sean Moore Road 

P
age 122



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Village Green 

Urban Structure and Design 
 
 

 

Built Form and Layout 

 

• Village Green & Coastal Park (integrated) 

 

• Residential neighbourhood with commercial  

 development to the north. 

 

• New Neighbourhood Centre located on  

 neighbourhood square.  

 

• Commercial space at South Bank Road 

 

• Strategic approach to heights based on: 
 

o Block orientation (solar access). 

 

o Major desire lines/areas of convergence (wayfinding). 

 

o Open space network (overlooking) & street hierarchy (enclosure). 

 

o Proximity to existing residences 

 
 

 

Central Boulevard  

P
age 123



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

      

Heights    -  Predominantly 4-7 storeys, up to 9 storeys residential 

 

-    Landmark gateway buildings up to 50m 

 

-    Objective to create a varied skyline along the Bay 

 
 

P
age 124



Implementation/monitoring 

• Dedicated Docklands office 

 

• Annual progress and implementation report – Docklands Forum 

 

• Where a block not in single ownership , a city-block roll-out arrangement 
to be agreed with Dublin City Council ( to ensure co-ordinated approach) 

 

• All applications to include a planning scheme compliance statement 

P
age 125



Next Stages 

• Public consultation phase ends 8th March 

 

• Chief Executive’s report on the public consultation 
phase to be circulated by 13th March 

 

P
age 126


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting of 29th November 2016
	Minutes

	3 Dublin One Plans
	Presentation to �Dublin City Council�Planning & Property Development�Strategic Policy Committee
	MANAGEMENT
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	RETAIL SALES
	Slide Number 7
	OF VISITS
	IN VISITATION
	IN VISITATION
	FOR VISITING THE CITY
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	NORTHSIDE TRADE
	NORTH & SOUTH SIDE MOVEMENT
	NORTH SIDE MOMENTUM
	FOR A BRIGHTER FUTURE
	City Architects & AIA
	Challenges
	Slide Number 21

	4 Student Accommodation
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Thank You

	5 Members Planning Fees
	6 Ireland 2040: National Planning Framework Plan Issues Paper
	Ireland 2040 Our Plan - Issues Paper

	7 Poolbeg SDZ

